
 

The Putnam Development Authority reserves the right to continue the meeting to another time and place in the event the number of people in 

attendance at the meeting, including the PDA members, staff, and members of the public exceeds the legal limits.  The meeting cannot be closed to 

the public except by a majority vote of a quorum present for the meeting.  The authority can vote to go into an executive session on a legally exempt 
matter during a public meeting even if not advertised or listed on the agenda.  Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in 

order to allow them to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are 

required to contact the ADA Compliance Officer, at least three business days in advance of the meeting at 706-485-2776 to allow the County to make 

reasonable accommodations for those persons. 

 

 
117 Putnam Drive ◊ Eatonton, GA  31024 ◊ Tel: 706-485-1884 

www.putnamdevelopmentauthority.com 

 
 

Agenda 

Monday, August 13, 2018 ◊ 9:00 AM 

Putnam County Administration Building – Room 204 

 

Opening 
1. Call to Order 

 
Minutes 
2. Approval of Minutes 

a. July 9, 2018 Regular Meeting 
b. July 9, 2018 Executive Session 

 
Financials 
3. Approval of Financials - July 2018 

 
Reports 
4. Economic Development Director Report - August 2018 

 
Regular Business 
5. Sign OneGeorgia Grant Agreement 
6. Update Bank Signor List 
7. PDA Budget Update 
8. SPLOST #9 Update 
9. Interfor Announcement 
10. Other Business 

 
Closing 
11. Adjournment 

  

1

http://www.putnamcountyga.us/


 

The Putnam Development Authority reserves the right to continue the meeting to another time and place in the event the number of people in 

attendance at the meeting, including the PDA members, staff, and members of the public exceeds the legal limits.  The meeting cannot be closed to 

the public except by a majority vote of a quorum present for the meeting.  The authority can vote to go into an executive session on a legally exempt 
matter during a public meeting even if not advertised or listed on the agenda.  Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in 

order to allow them to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are 

required to contact the ADA Compliance Officer, at least three business days in advance of the meeting at 706-485-2776 to allow the County to make 

reasonable accommodations for those persons. 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 
2. Approval of Minutes 

a. July 9, 2018 Regular Meeting 
b. July 9, 2018 Executive Session 

  

2



DRAFT Minutes                                                             Page 1 of 4                                                                                     Approved 

July 9, 2018 

 

 
117 Putnam Drive ◊ Eatonton, GA  31024 ◊ Tel: 706-485-1884 

www.putnamdevelopmentauthority.com 

 
 

Minutes 

Monday, July 9, 2018 ◊ 9:00 AM 

Putnam County Administration Building – Room 204 

 

The Putnam Development Authority met on Monday, July 9, 2018 at approximately 9:00 AM in 

the Putnam County Administration Building, 117 Putnam Drive, Room 204, Eatonton, Georgia 

 

PRESENT 

Chairman Bill Sharp 

Member Patty Burns 

Member Joshua Daniel 

Member Eugene Smith 

Member Ed Waggoner 

 

OTHERS PRESENT 

Attorney Kevin Brown (arrived at 9:19 a.m.) 

Economic Development Director Terry Schwindler 

County Clerk Lynn Butterworth 

 

 

Opening 
1. Call to Order 
Chairman Sharp called the meeting to order at approximately 9:04 a.m. (Copy of agenda made a 

part of the minutes.) 

 
Minutes 
2. Approval of Minutes 

a. June 11, 2018 Regular Meeting 
b. June 19, 2018 Called Meeting 

Motion to approve the June 11, 2018 Regular Meeting Minutes. 
Motion made by Member Smith, Seconded by Vice Chairman Waggoner. 

Voting Yea: Vice Chairman Waggoner, Member Burns, Member Daniel, Member Smith  
 

Motion to approve the June 19, 2018 Called Meeting Minutes. 
Motion made by Member Daniel, Seconded by Member Smith. 

Voting Yea: Vice Chairman Waggoner, Member Burns, Member Daniel, Member Smith  
 

3



DRAFT Minutes                                                             Page 2 of 4                                                                                     Approved 

July 9, 2018 

 
Financials 
3. Approval of Financials - June 2018 
Motion to approve the June 2018 Financials 
Motion made by Member Daniel, Seconded by Vice Chairman Waggoner. 

Voting Yea: Vice Chairman Waggoner, Member Burns, Member Daniel, Member Smith 

 
Reports 
4. Economic Development Director Report - July 2018 
EDD Schwindler reported the following: (copy of report made a part of the minutes) 

• Website visitor sessions and pages viewed per session 

• Website analytics 

• Project status - 8 projects added 

• Projects by Industry - 5 commercial/retail, 2 manufacturing, 1 hospitality 

• Project source – 2 existing industry, 6 local referrals 

• Company located – LaLore Café, 113 Harmony Crossing 

• Company relocated – Ace Hardware, 1022 Lake Oconee Parkway 

• Company update – ViziTech USA – now offering design, web, & social media services 

• Project update – South Industrial Park – Pad Ready Sites Project – OneGeorgia Grant for 

$446,552 awarded 

• Project update – Medical Center at Harmony Crossing 

• Business & Industry contacts - 18 MTD, 141 YTD 

• Social media - 309 likes on Facebook, 43 followers on LinkedIn, 110 followers on 

Instagram, 17 followers on Twitter 

• Events attended and upcoming events 

• Regional Think-Tank Workshop at CGTC Warner Robbins – June 15th   

• UFP Job Fair – July 19th  

 
Regular Business 
5. Sign Letter of Intent for project "Philly" 
EDD Schwindler explained that this is the standard approved tax abatement schedule and a non-

binding letter of intent.  The final will need to be approved by Board of Commissioners. 
Motion to authorize the Chairman to sign the non-binding letter of intent for project Philly 
Motion made by Member Smith, Seconded by Member Burns. 

Voting Yea: Vice Chairman Waggoner, Member Burns, Member Daniel, Member Smith 

(Copy of letter made a part of the minutes.) 

 
6. Other Business 
None 
 

 

Meeting was recessed at approximately 9:42 a.m. 
Meeting was reconvened at approximately 9:50 a.m. 

 
 

4



DRAFT Minutes                                                             Page 3 of 4                                                                                     Approved 

July 9, 2018 

Executive Session 
7. Motion to enter Executive Session as allowed by O.C.G.A. 50-14-4, if necessary, for 

Personnel, Litigation, or Real Estate 
Motion to enter Executive Session for real estate purposes. 

Motion made by Vice Chairman Waggoner, Seconded by Member Smith. 

Voting Yea: Vice Chairman Waggoner, Member Burns, Member Daniel, Member Smith 

 

 

Meeting closed at approximately 9:51 a.m. 

 

  
8. Motion to reopen meeting and execute Affidavit concerning the subject matter of the closed 

portion of the meeting 
Motion to reopen the meeting and execute the Affidavit concerning the subject matter of 

the closed portion of the meeting. 

Motion made by Vice Chairman Waggoner, Seconded by Member Smith. 

Voting Yea: Vice Chairman Waggoner, Member Burns, Member Daniel, Member Smith 

 

 

Meeting reopened at approximately 10:31 a.m. (Copy of affidavit made a part of the minutes.) 

 

 
9. Action, if any, resulting from the Executive Session 
Real Estate Matter #1 

Motion to counter the offer for real estate matter #1 as discussed in Executive Session and 

authorize EDD Schwindler to make and explain the offer. 

Motion made by Member Daniel, Seconded by Vice Chairman Waggoner. 

Voting Yea: Vice Chairman Waggoner, Member Burns, Member Daniel, Member Smith 
 

Real Estate Matter #2 

During the Executive Session, Member Burns disclosed a potential conflict of interest as she is 

the broker for the seller.  She stepped out of the room to allow for board discussion. 
Motion to authorize counsel to work with owner to modify documentation appropriately, at 

the owner’s expense, for real estate matter #2. 

Motion made by Vice Chairman Waggoner, Seconded by Member Daniel. 

Voting Yea: Vice Chairman Waggoner, Member Daniel, Chairman Sharp 

Voting Abstain: Member Smith 

No vote: Member Burns  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

5



DRAFT Minutes                                                             Page 4 of 4                                                                                     Approved 

July 9, 2018 

Closing 
10. Adjournment 
Motion to adjourn the meeting. 
Motion made by Member Smith, Seconded by Chairman Sharp. 

Voting Yea: Vice Chairman Waggoner, Member Burns, Member Daniel, Member Smith 

 

 

The meeting adjourned at approximately 10:36 a.m. 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

Lynn Butterworth      Bill Sharp 

County Clerk       Chairman 

6



 

 
 

 

117 Putnam Drive ◊ Eatonton, GA  31024 ◊ Tel: 706-485-1884 

www.putnamdevelopmentauthority.com 

 

 

 

The draft minutes of the July 9, 2018 Executive Session 

are available for Board Member review in the Clerk’s 

office. 
 

7



 

The Putnam Development Authority reserves the right to continue the meeting to another time and place in the event the number of people in 

attendance at the meeting, including the PDA members, staff, and members of the public exceeds the legal limits.  The meeting cannot be closed to 

the public except by a majority vote of a quorum present for the meeting.  The authority can vote to go into an executive session on a legally exempt 
matter during a public meeting even if not advertised or listed on the agenda.  Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in 

order to allow them to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are 

required to contact the ADA Compliance Officer, at least three business days in advance of the meeting at 706-485-2776 to allow the County to make 

reasonable accommodations for those persons. 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 
3. Approval of Financials - July 2018 

  

8



Current 

Total Budget YTD Activity

Budget 

Remaining

65412 52829.72 12582.28

7564 6299.91 1264.09

5004 4005.65 998.35

9004 9004 0

207 207 0

220 0 220

35000 11574.94 23425.06

5500 200 5300

20000 0 20000

2600 2333.95 266.05

3500 0 3500

300 153.83 146.17

350 0 350

6500 2345 4155

1200 778.82 421.18

100 97.94 2.06

4500 8.12 4491.88

500 0 500

6540 3032.07 3507.93

2550 250 2300

2950 1045.83 1904.17

970 0 970

550 370.3 179.7

1500 0 1500

550 590.91 -40.91

1500 1116.68 383.32

90 84.95 5.05

1500 848.63 651.37

186161 97178.25 88,982.75

186161 97178.25 88,982.75

-186161 -97178.25 -88,982.75Total Surplus (Deficit): -184010 -7663.35

8/1/2018 9:44:07 AM Page 1 of 3

101-75201-531601 Small Equipment 1500 0

Expense Total: 184010 7663.35

Fund: 101 - GENERAL FUND  Total: 184010 7663.35

101-75201-531231 Electricity 550 43.91
101-75201-531301 Meals For Special Events 1500 0
101-75201-531401 Books & Periodicals 50 0

101-75201-523920 Miscellaneous Services 1000 0
101-75201-531101 Office & General Supplies 550 0
101-75201-531110 Building & Ground Supplies 1500 0

101-75201-523501 Travel 6550 0
101-75201-523601 Dues & Fees 2550 0
101-75201-523701 Education 2950 0

101-75201-523215 Postage 100 0
101-75201-523301 Advertising 4500 0
101-75201-523401 Printing & Binding 500 0

101-75201-522321 Rental Expense 350 0
101-75201-523101 General Insurance 6500 0
101-75201-523201 Telecommunications 1200 86.85

101-75201-521301 Computer Services 2600 67.75
101-75201-522201 Building & Ground Services 3500 0
101-75201-522205 Equipment Services 300 16.29

101-75201-521203 Legal Services 35000 1300.14
101-75201-521206 Accounting/Auditing 5500 100
101-75201-521220 Professional Services 20000 0

101-75201-512401 Retirement Contributions 6845 0
101-75201-512701 Workers Compensation 215 0
101-75201-512901 Payroll Accrual 220 0

101-75201-511100 Full-time Staff 65412 5031.4
101-75201-512101 Insurance Benefits 7564 637.77
101-75201-512201 Social Security 5004 379.24

Income Statement
Putnam County, GA Account Summary

For Fiscal: 2018 Period Ending: 07/31/2018

Original 

Total Budget MTD Activity

Fund: 101 - GENERAL FUND

Expense

9



Jul 31, 18

ASSETS
Current Assets

Checking/Savings
10001 · Checking-FMB 260,254.74
10050 · One Georgia Funds 50.00
10300 · Certificate of Deposit 42072 108,873.00
10600 · Certificate of Deposit-24251 81,890.80

Total Checking/Savings 451,068.54

Other Current Assets
11700 · CIP 25,357.50
12007 · Prepaid Insurance 3,896.00

Total Other Current Assets 29,253.50

Total Current Assets 480,322.04

Fixed Assets
11100 · 10 ac. N. Park 200,000.00
11200 · 5 ac. N. Park 100,000.00
11250 · Building-Tech College 1,000,000.00
11300 · Tech. College Property 455,962.60
11350 · Building 660,561.00
11355 · Rock Eagle Rech. Accum Deprecia -62,386.40
11400 · Mach & Equip (Haband) 350,000.00
11500 · 142 Ac. Indust Blvd 300,000.00
11600 · 130 Ac. RE Tech. Park 1,029,600.00

Total Fixed Assets 4,033,737.20

Other Assets
12001 · Note Receivable-Lease Purch Aar -53,536.07
12005 · Note Rec-Aaron 330,083.48

Total Other Assets 276,547.41

TOTAL ASSETS 4,790,606.65

LIABILITIES & EQUITY
Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Other Current Liabilities

11360 · Accum Depr-Building 352,083.00
11420 · Accum Depr-Mach & Equip 350,000.00
18050 · Accrued Payroll 667.00

Total Other Current Liabilities 702,750.00

Total Current Liabilities 702,750.00

Total Liabilities 702,750.00

Equity
30000 · Opening Balance Equity 3,367,924.20
32000 · Unrestricted Net Assets 656,245.18
Net Income 63,687.27

Total Equity 4,087,856.65

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 4,790,606.65

6:39 PM Putnam Development Authority
08/02/18 Balance Sheet
Accrual Basis As of July 31, 2018

Page 1

10



Type Date Num Name Clr Amount Balance

Beginning Balance 254,857.52
Cleared Transactions

Deposits and Credits - 2 items
Deposit 06/20/2018 X 2,698.61 2,698.61
Deposit 07/09/2018 X 2,698.61 5,397.22

Total Deposits and Credits 5,397.22 5,397.22

Total Cleared Transactions 5,397.22 5,397.22

Cleared Balance 5,397.22 260,254.74

Register Balance as of 07/17/2018 5,397.22 260,254.74

Ending Balance 5,397.22 260,254.74

6:37 PM Putnam Development Authority
08/02/18 Reconciliation Detail

10001 · Checking-FMB, Period Ending 07/17/2018

Page 1

11



Type Num Date Name Account Amount

Deposit 06/20/2018 10001 · Checking-FMB 2,698.61

12001 · Note Receivable-Lease Pur... -1,728.28
45000 · Interest -970.33

TOTAL -2,698.61

Deposit 07/09/2018 10001 · Checking-FMB 2,698.61

12001 · Note Receivable-Lease Pur... -1,765.34
45000 · Interest -933.27

TOTAL -2,698.61

General Journal cd int 07/21/2018 10300 · Certificate of Deposit 42072 338.24

45000 · Interest -338.24

TOTAL -338.24

6:54 PM Putnam Development Authority
08/02/18 Deposit Detail

June through July 2018

Page 1

12



Jul 18 Oct '17 - Jul 18

Income
44500 · Grants

44530 · Tri County 0.00 5,800.00

Total 44500 · Grants 0.00 5,800.00

45000 · Interest 1,271.51 11,183.27
46400 · Other Types of Income

46430 · Miscellaneous Revenue 0.00 46,704.00

Total 46400 · Other Types of Income 0.00 46,704.00

Total Income 1,271.51 63,687.27

Expense 0.00 0.00

Net Income 1,271.51 63,687.27

6:41 PM Putnam Development Authority
08/02/18 Profit & Loss YTD Comparison
Accrual Basis July 2018

Page 1

13



Jul 15, 18

Beginning Balance 50.00
Cleared Balance 50.00

Register Balance as of 07/15/2018 50.00

Ending Balance 50.00

6:38 PM Putnam Development Authority
08/02/18 Reconciliation Summary

10050 · One Georgia Funds, Period Ending 07/15/2018

Page 1

14



 

The Putnam Development Authority reserves the right to continue the meeting to another time and place in the event the number of people in 

attendance at the meeting, including the PDA members, staff, and members of the public exceeds the legal limits.  The meeting cannot be closed to 

the public except by a majority vote of a quorum present for the meeting.  The authority can vote to go into an executive session on a legally exempt 
matter during a public meeting even if not advertised or listed on the agenda.  Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in 

order to allow them to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are 

required to contact the ADA Compliance Officer, at least three business days in advance of the meeting at 706-485-2776 to allow the County to make 

reasonable accommodations for those persons. 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 
4. Economic Development Director Report - August 2018 

  

15



Economic Development Director 
July Report

August 13, 2018

16



Jul Summary
Sessions 1133
Users 955
New Visitor 
Sessions 917
Return Visitor 
Sessions  216

% New Sessions 88.3%
Page views 2969
US Pages per 
session 2.67
US Avg Session 
Duration 1:24

US Bounce Rate 32.75%

0

500

1000

1500

2000

Ap
r‐
14

Ju
l‐1

4
O
ct
‐1
4

Ja
n‐
15

Ap
r‐
15

Ju
l‐1

5
O
ct
‐1
5

Ja
n‐
16

Ap
r‐
16

Ju
l‐1

6
O
ct
‐1
6

Ja
n‐
17

Ap
r‐
17

Ju
l‐1

7
O
ct
‐1
7

Ja
n‐
18

Ap
r‐
18

Website Visitor Sessions

New Visitor Sessions Return Visitor Sessions

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

M
ay
‐1
4

Au
g‐
14

N
ov

‐1
4

Fe
b‐
15

M
ay
‐1
5

Au
g‐
15

N
ov

‐1
5

Fe
b‐
16

M
ay
‐1
6

Au
g‐
16

N
ov

‐1
6

Fe
b‐
17

M
ay
‐1
7

Au
g‐
17

N
ov

‐1
7

Fe
b‐
18

M
ay
‐1
8

Pages Viewed per Session

17



Website Analytics

Sessions by Source

home

available sites

18



Active 91

Inactive 2
Hold 14

Dropped 60
Lost 13

Located 101
Open

Projects 107
TOTAL 
Projects 280

8 Projects Added

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Active Inactive Hold Dropped Lost Located

Project Status

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

19



New  (4 Manufacturing, 3 Commerical/Retail, 1 Residential)

Healthcare 13
Ag 11
Bio 3

Commercial 
/Retail 142
Dist 19

Hosptality 12
Mfg 62

Retirement 1
IT 4

Film 3
Energy 4

Residential 6
Total 280

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Projects by Industry

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

20



New (3 direct, 2 existing industry, 2 referrals, 1 PDA website)

State 4
Consultant 10
Direct 105
Contractor 2
Local referral 88
Existing 
Industry 67
PDA Website 4
Conference 
/Trade Show 0

Total 280
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

State Consultant Direct Contractor Local
referral

Existing
Industry

PDA
Website

Conference
/ Show

Project Source

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

21



Project Announced
Interfor Equipment Upgrade & Mill Modernization 

Work is expected to begin in late 2019 and the 
upgrades will modernize technology, increase 
efficiency, and boost production.

Investment is expected to be 
well in excess of $50 million 
and will retain 125 jobs.

22



Project Update
Medical Center at Harmony Crossing

Bldg 1500 ‐ University Cancer & Blood Center ‐ open August 
Bldg 1600 ‐ Lake Country Pharmacy ‐ open December

23



Project Update
Lakeview Senior Gardens

Estimated completion October/November 2018

24



Business & Industry: 20 Company Contacts, 161 YTD

Name Company Topic
Lisa Carson Cosmo Cabinets discussed training 
Nicole Hanson UFP discussed next Job Fair
Stew Aaron Cotton Warehouse discussed selling buildings
Daryl Malcom GroTec site visit
Stan Martin BlueStem Brands/Haband site visit
Kerry Talbert BlueStem Brands/Haband site visit
Lisa Carson Cosmo Cabinets site visit
Tom Boyda Cosmo Cabinets site visit
Howard Sneed Legacy Molding & Lamination site visit
Allen Mountjoy Legacy Molding & Lamination site visit
GDEcD Candice Scott discussed projects 
Nicole Hanson UFP site visit
Ashley Holton UFP site visit
Walt  Rocker III Tytan discussed new machine shop
Jacob Fried F5 Hauling Services LLC discussed water main break
Mike Crackamire JDA Enterprises discussed warehouse space
Gene Adams OceanLink discussed warehouse space
Ashley Holton UFP UFP Job Fair
Mike Crackamire JDA Enterprises discussed project
Stephanie  Yarbrough Womble Bond Dickinson  discussed project

25



Social Media

312 Followers on Facebook 
43 Followers on Linked‐In
114 Followers on Instagram
16 Followers on Twitter

26



Events Attended

Jul 18  EPTAH Meeting
Jul 19  UFP Job Fair 
Aug 7 LOABA Meeting
Aug 10 MGEA Meeting

27



UFP Job Fair 
July 19th

17 Attendees

28



Upcoming Events 

Aug 15 EPTAH Meeting
Aug 20  GEDA Meeting
Aug 21 GA COC Congressional Luncheon in Macon
Sep 4 LOABA Meeting

29



 

The Putnam Development Authority reserves the right to continue the meeting to another time and place in the event the number of people in 

attendance at the meeting, including the PDA members, staff, and members of the public exceeds the legal limits.  The meeting cannot be closed to 

the public except by a majority vote of a quorum present for the meeting.  The authority can vote to go into an executive session on a legally exempt 
matter during a public meeting even if not advertised or listed on the agenda.  Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in 

order to allow them to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are 

required to contact the ADA Compliance Officer, at least three business days in advance of the meeting at 706-485-2776 to allow the County to make 

reasonable accommodations for those persons. 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 
5. Sign OneGeorgia Grant Agreement 

  

30



Nathan Deal 
Governor 

July 9, 2018 

B.W. •Bill" Sharp, Chairman 

Putnam Development Authority 

117 Putnam Avenue 

Eatonton, Georgia 31024 

Re: OneGeorgla Equity Award #18gq-117-34903 

Dear Chairman Sharp: 

Christopher Nunn 
Commissioner 

Congratulations on the selection of your project as a recipient of a $446,552 OneGeorgia Equity 
Award. These funds are budgeted to assist in the site preparation and infrastructure improvements within 
the Eatonton-Putnam Industrial Park. 

Enclosed are the Statement of Award, Statement of Special Conditions, and Approved Budget that 
have been placed on the award. Also enclosed are the forms with instructions to be used in the 
administration of your project. 

Please note your acceptance of this contract document makes you responsible for adherence to 
all award requirements. After careful study of both Statements of Conditions, please acknowledge your 
acceptance by signing all copies of the Statement of Award, Statement of General Conditions, Statement 
of Special Conditions, and the Approved Budget. Once signed, the original copy (white) of the Statement 
of Award, original Statement of Special Conditions, original Statement of General Conditions, and Approved 
Budget, must be returned to the OneGeorgla Authority, Georgia Department of Community Affairs, 60 
Executive Park South, NE, Atlanta, Georgia 30329. 

The pink copy of the Statement of Award and copies of other award documents should be retained 
for your files. The award does not become effective until we receive all executed copies. Also, the Vendor 
Management Bank Account Form, signature card necessary for drawing down funds and the agreement to 
provide Independent audit reports should be returned with your executed documents. 

If you have any questions concerning this award, please do not hesitate to contact Anna Hensley, 
OneGeorgia Executive Director at 404-6794912. 

CN/bc 

Enclosures as stated 

cc: Terry Schwindler- Putnam Development Authority, Tonya Mole- DCA (by email) 

60 Executive Park South, NE I Atlanta, GA 30329-2231 I 404-679-4940 
www dca.ga.gov I An Equal Opportunity Employer 

0.1:!l 
---

31



-, 

ltGeor,gia ONEGEORGIA AUTHORITY 

PROJECT CHECKLIST Community Affairs 

Within 30 Days of Award: 
Carefully read and review ALL Information received. 
Execute TWO sets of Original Award Documents (white and pink). 
Return the white set of Original Award Documents to DCA. 
If applicable, the recipient should begin clearing Special Conditions. 
Review and complete ALL Financial/Administrative forms. 
Return original of all forms along with a voided check from a non-interest bearing. separate 
checking account to DCA. Do not complete Section 3 on the Vendor Management Fonn. A 
sample is Included for your convenience. 

Prior to Drawdown of Funds: 
Submit documentation to clear special conditions that reference "prior to drawdown." 
Verify clearance of pre-drawdown special conditions and fund availability. 
Ensure progress report has been filed within the past 6 months. Progress Reports are due on a 
semi-annual basis. Email executed reports to oed@dca.ga.gov. 

To Initiate Drawdown of Funds: 
Time your request so that you have a 10 to 14-day window before funds are needed. 
Complete "Request for Orawdown of Funds" per instructions. 
Compare Budget Breakdown to your draw request for line Item codes and allowable amounts. 
Review drawdown request for acceptable authorized signatures. 
Attach cost documentation that has been reviewed, reconciled and initialed as accepted by the 
recipient as to accuracy and completeness. 
Submit an electronic copy of the draw request along with legible copies of sufficient cost 
documentation to oed@dca.ga.gov. 

To close-out Grant: 
Complete any remaining Special Conditions listed that must be cleared prior to close-out and 
final drawdown of funds. 
Complete final drawdown request for remaining funds. 
Complete In detail the Project Final Report; additional supporting documentation may be
attached. 
Provide timely independent audit report each fiscal year of the project. A Source and Application 
of Funds Schedule and a Project Cost Schedule for all OneGeorgia funds must be included in 
the audit report. 
Retain grant documents for 3 years after close out process. 

Progress Reports, Draw Requests, and Special Condition documentation may be emailed to 
oed@dca.ga.q9v. 

Please Include the grant award number and type of documentation In the subject llne, 
e.g., 17gq-xxx-x-xxxx - Special Condition #4 or Draw #1

Hard copy documentation Is also aoc:epted at 
OneGeorgia Authority, Georgia Department of Community Affairs, P.O. Box 15481, Atlanta, GA 30333 

32



Georgia Department of Community Affairs 

Statement of OneGeorgia Equity Fund Award 

Recipient: Putnam Development Authority

Date of Award: 6/20/2018
____;_:::....:...;_=..:......;_;;.. _____ _ 

Award Number: 1 Bgq-117-3-4903

Equity Funds: _$4_4_6...;.,_55_2 _____ _

Type Grant

Award Period: From 6/20/2018 To 12/20/2019 

An award is hereby made in the amount and for the period shown above as authorized under O.C.G.A. 50-34-1 et 
seq. and by resolution of the Board of the OneGeorgia Authority, to the Recipient indicated above, in accordance 
with the plan set forth in the application submitted by the Recipient and subject to any attached revisions and 
conditions. 

This award is subject to all applicable laws, rules, regulations and conditions prescribed by the OneGeorgia 
Authority's Equity Fund Regulations and Guidelines as well as all applicable provisions contained in state law. It is 
also subject to such further rules, regulations and policies as may be reasonably prescribed by the State and the 
OneGeorgia Authority consistent with the purposes and authorization of O.C.G.A. 50-34-1. 

This award shall become effective on the beginning date of the award period shown above, provided that within 
thirty (30) days of the award execution date (below), the properly executed original Statement of Equity Fund 
Award and any attached properly executed revisions and condition statements are returned to the OneGeorgia 
Authority, Georgia Department of Community Affairs, 60 Executive Park South, NE Atlanta GA 30329. 

This award is subject to the approved 
budget and general conditions. 
(attached) 

181 
This award is subject to special 
conditions. (attached) 

For the 

GIA AUTHORITY 

Executed 

I, __________ _. acting under my authority to contract on behalf of the recipient, 
hereby signify acceptance for the recipient of the above described Award on the terms and conditions stated 
above or incorporated by reference therein. 

Date of Acceptance: 
Authorized Signature 

Title (typed) 

Billy Wayne Sharp

Chairman

August 13, 2018

33



Georgia Department of Community Affairs 
Statement of OneGeorgia Equity Fund General Conditions 

Page 1 of 3 

Recipient: Putnam Development Authority Award Number: 18gq-117-3-4903 

I. Unless otherwise stated, upon approval of the OneGeorgia Authority, up to 90% of the total award may be drawn
down as soon as the award documents are properly executed, special conditions (if any) cleared, and appropriate
cost documentation submitted. Draws will be processed on an as-needed basis but no more than twice per week.
The final 10% will only be paid after completion of the OneGeorgia portion of the project, satisfactory submission
of the interim or final report (depending on overall project status) and copies of cancelled checks, bank statements
and/or other appropriate documentation related to the OneGeorgia-funded activities of the project.

2. Recipient's internally adopted procurement procedures must meet applicable state and local requirements (e.g., HB
I 079). The procedures will be adhered to and proper documentation shall be maintained in the program file so as
to document such adherence.

3. Drawdowns for construction costs and/or professional services shall be disbursed to the rec1p1ent subject to
OneGeorgia's approval of copies of vendor invoices or paid invoices, properly completed drawdown forms and, if
applicable, properly completed certification forms (e.g. AIA or similar). If force-account labor is used, recipient
shall provide cost documentation that is certified by the appropriate local government official. This information
should include, but not be limited to, the number of labor and/or machinery hours and their hourly rates. All
invoices must clearly display either the name of the project, or the OneGeorgia award number.

4. Drawdowns for machinery and/or equipment shall be disbursed to the recipient based on approved unpaid or paid
vendor invoices. All invoices must show the recipient as the "bill-to" entity or else be accompanied by secondary
documentation (e.g., bill of sale) that indicates title to and ownership of the subject machinery and/or equipment
has been transferred to the recipient. All invoices must clearly display either the name of the project, or the
OneGeorgia award number.

5. Drawdowns for land acquisition must demonstrate the acquisition cost (e.g., purchase option and/or sales contract).
Within 45 days of drawdown, documentation evidencing the land acquisition (i.e., executed settlement statement
and a properly recorded deed evidencing the recipient's fee simple title to the land) must be forwarded to the
OneGeorgia Authority. If the land was acquired with interim financing, the recipient must submit evidence of
secured interim financing (i.e., executed loan papers). In such a case, within 45 days of drawdown, the recipient
must provide OneGeorgia with evidence that the interim financing has been paid off (i.e., satisfied or paid
promissory note and release of any security interest in the land) and a copy of the recorded deed evidencing the
recipient's fee simple title to the land.

6. The recipient agrees to provide for the balance of funding for any cost overruns that exceed award amount.

7. The recipient certifies that all assets financed with OneGeorgia funds will be publicly owned property and that
appropriate documentation evidencing such ownership will be available for OneGeorgia review.

8. The recipient certifies that before engaging in any land-disturbing activity and before acquiring real property, it will
comply with the Environmental Policy Act (O.C.G.A. § 12-16-1 et seq.) and any other applicable laws and
regulations.

9. The recipient certifies that the project is in compliance with the applicable local government's Comprehensive Plan,
as approved by the State, is consistent with the applicable community's adopted Service Delivery Strategy and is in
compliance with the State's rules governing Developments of Regional Impact. Furthermore, the appropriate local
government is a Qualified Local Government as certified by the State.

Date of Acceptance: 
Title (typed) 

Authorized Signature Name (typed) 

(Please Sign Pages 1, 2, and 3) 

August 13, 2018 Chairman

Billy Wayne Sharp 

34



Georgia Department of Community Affairs 
Statement of OneGeorgia Equity Fund General Conditions 

Recipient: Putnam Development Authority Award Number: 18gq-117-3-4903 

Page 2 of 3 

I 0. Where applicable, the recipient agrees to obtain approval from the Georgia Environmental Protection Division for 
the project's plans and specifications as required. The recipient also agrees to obtain all pertinent permits (e.g. soil 
disturbance, erosion control, etc.). 

11. The recipient certifies that no applicable state laws, rules, regulations or applicable local ordinances shall be violated
in carrying out this project and expending OneGeorgia funds.

12. The recipient certifies that no conflicts of interest exist with regard to this project. For more information about what
constitutes a conflict of interest, consult the OneGeorgia Recipient's Manual.

I 3. The recipient certifies that without limitation of any other condition, OneGeorgia funds shall not be used to pay the 
cost of entertainment. Entertainment costs are defined as: "costs of amusements, social activities and incidental 
costs relating thereto, such as meals, beverages, lodgings, rentals, transportation, and gratuities." This definition 
includes meal/beverage expenses incurred for meetings which could reasonably have been conducted at a place of 
business and which did not require the provision of a meal. 

14. All applications as well as supporting documentation submitted to the OneGeorgia Authority shall be subject to the
provisions governing Georgia Open Records requests. All records pertinent to the OneGeorgia project, whether
financial or programmatic, shall be maintained by the recipient for a minimum of three years from the date of formal
grant close-out.

15. Local government recipients shall maintain their accounting records in accordance with the Uniform Chari of
Acco11nts For local Governments in Georgia, as mandated under state law (O.C.G.A. § 36-81-3), and all recipients
shall undergo an annual financial audit conducted in accordance with Generally Accepted Government Auditing
Standards. A Source and Application of Funds Schedule and a Project Cost Schedule for all OneGeorgia funds must
be included in the audit report. The recipient shall submit to the OneGeorgia Authority copies of all audits that
cover all or part of the award period.

16. Development Authorities with powers set forth in Chapter 62 of Title 36 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated
must adhere to O.C.G.A. § 36-62-7 and any other applicable Jaw or regulation when selling or leasing assets funded
in whole or in part with OneGeorgia funds.

17. The OneGeorgia award will remain "open" until the entire project (including activities funded by other sources) is
complete. After project completion, OneGeorgia will conduct a close-out site visit of the project to determine the
project's consistency with objectives and goals stated in the application. The site visit will also consist of a
quantitative measure of the public benefits (e.g. jobs created, private investment). If OneGeorgia funds are used for
a "soft" project (e.g. feasibility study), a copy of the OneGeorgia-funded project should be forwarded to the
OneGeorgia Authority for review upon completion. If either the site visit or project review is determined to be
satisfactory, an award close-out letter will be issued to the recipient.

18. The recipient will be responsible for submitting semi-annual progress reports to the OneGeorgia Authority for the
term of the award. These reports are due June 30 and December 31 of each year. Recipients who are not up-to-date
on their semi-annual reporting requirements may not be eligible to draw and/or receive funds from the OneGeorgia
Authority.

Date of Acceptance: 
Title (typed) 

Authorized Signature Name (typed) 

(Please Sign Pages 1, 2 and 3) 

August 13, 2018 Chairman

Billy Wayne Sharp

35



Georgia Department of Community Affairs 
Statement of OneGeorgia Equity Fund General Conditions 

Recipient: Putnam Development Authority Award Number: 18gq-117-3-4903 

Page 3 of 3 

19. The Recipient, by signing these Conditions, is certifying that it will comply with the requirements ofO.C.G.A. § 50
-36 entitled "Verification of Lawful Presence Within United States" and verify the lawful presence in the United
States of any natural person 18 years of age who has applied for state or local public benefits, as defined in 8 U.S.C.
Section 1621, or for federal public benefits, defined in U.S.C. Section 16 I I, that is administered by an agency or a
political subdivision of this state.

20. The Recipient, by signing these conditions, is certifying that it will comply with the requirements ofO.C.G.A. § 13
-10-91 under Article 3 entitled "Security and Immigration Compliance." This requires, among other things, that
every public employer, including, but not limited to, every municipality and county, will register and participate in
the federal work authorization program to verify employment eligibility of all newly hired employees. For more
information, including a link to the Homeland Security website and the 1-9 Form requirements for all new
employees, see the OGA Recipient Manual and Forms Page at: http:l/www.oncgcorgi5!.org,

21. The OneGeorgia Authority expects that all assets constructed, improved and/or purchased with OneGeorgia funds
will be used for the approved use for no less than five years from the award date. OneGeorgia should be contacted
immediately if there is a proposed change in use. OneGeorgia will require repayment of the award in the event a
facility and/or asset is converted to an ineligible use or from public ownership.

22. For EDGE projects only: the recipient certifies that in accordance with Section 413-2.05(6) of the EDGE regulation,
it will be accountable for this state EDGE expenditure made in partial consideration of assisting the recipient in
fulfilling its mission as outlined in its EDGE application, local inducement resolution and local development
agreements.

23. The EDGE/REBA program generally requires all Special Conditions to be cleared before funds can be drawn down.
Requests for drawdown of EDGE/REBA funds must be accompanied by adequate supporting cost
documentation (including approved pay request(s) and/or invoices), certified by the Authority to demonstrate
local oversight, and copies provided of cancelled checks or EFT payment verification for the cost
documentation being submitted. No funds will be paid without complete documentation to support the
drawdown request.

Date of Acceptance: 
Title (typed) 

Authorized Signature Name (typed) 

(Please Sign Pages 1, 2 and 3) 

August 13, 2018 Chairman

Billy Wayne Sharp

36



Statement of Special Conditions 

Recipient Putnam Development Authority Award_No 1 Bgq-117 -3-4903

01. Prior to drawdown of funds, the recipient must submit for OneGeorgia Authority approval final executed copies
of the bid specifications and tabulations and contract(s), for the proposed project. (Please submit all required
documents at one time.)

Date of Acceptance: 

Authorized Signature 

Name (typed) 

Title (typed) 

August 13, 2018

Billy Wayne Sharp

Chairman

37



Georgia Department of Community Affairs 
OneGeorgia Equity Fund Approved Budget 

Recipient: Putnam Development Authority Award Number: 18gq-117-3-4903 

Activity Code Activity Budget 

G70-1101-I Site Preparation $148,081 

G70-1401-I Water $35,360 

G70-1402-I Sewer $34,600 

G70-1405-I Streets $161,450 

G70-1414-I Public Infrastructure (other) $2,400 

G70-2101-I General (other) $64
t
661 

Budget Total $446,552 

Project Description 

The Putnam Development Authority is seeking $446,552 to assist in site preparation and infrastructure 

improvements within the South Eatonton-Putnam Industrial Park. The park is 309 acres with 116 acres available for 

development. This project proposes site preparation and infrastructure improvements on the front 50 acres of the 

available land to create a pad-ready site. These enhancements will help create fifty acres of Georgia Ready for 

Accelerated Development (GRAD) certified site to market toward prospective industries. Proposed improvements 

include water extension, sewer extension, site clearing and road construction. There are currently no pad-ready sites 

in Putnam County and the Development Authority has chosen to develop the site within South Eatonton-Putnam 

Industrial Park due to its location near existing manufacturing and distribution facilities. This project includes a local 

investment of $436,270, including $336,270 from the Putnam Development Authority and $100,000 in SPLOST 

dollars from Putnam County. 

Date of Acceptance: 
Authorized Signature 

Name (typed) 

Title (typed) 

August 13, 2018

Billy Wayne Sharp

Chairman

38



Georgia Department of Community Affairs 

Statement of OneGeorgia Equity Fund Award 

Recipient: Putnam Development Authority 

Date of Award: 6/20/2018 
----------

Award Number. 18gq-117-3-4903 

Equity Funds: _$_44_6_,_5_52 _____ _

Type !Grant 

Award Period: From 6/20/2018 To 12/20/2019 

An award is hereby made in the amount and for the period shown above as authorized under O.C.G.A 50-34-1 et 
seq. and by resolution of the Board of the OneGeorgia Authority, to the Recipient indicated above. in accordance 
with the plan set forth in the applfcation submitted by the Recipient and subject to any attached revisions and 
conditions. 

This award is subject to all applicable laws, rules, regulations and conditions prescribed by the OneGeorgia 
Authority's Equity Fund Regulations and Guidelines as well as all applicable provisions contained in state law. It is 
also subject to such further rules, regulations and policies as may be reasonably prescribed by the State and the 
OneGeorgia Authority consistent with the purposes and authorization of O.C.G.A 50-34-1. 

This award shall become effective on the beginning date of the award period shown above, provided that within 
thirty (30) days of the award execution date (below), the properly executed original Statement of Equity Fund 
Award and any attached properly executed revisions and condition statements are returned to the OneGeorgia 
Authority, Georgia Department of Community Affairs, 60 Executive Park South, NE Atlanta GA 30329. 

� 
This award is subject to the approved 
budget and general conditions. 
(attached) 

� 
This award is subject to special
conditions. (attached) 

For the 

ORGIA AUTHORITY 

I, __________ _, acting under my authority to contract on behalf of the recipient, 
hereby signify acceptance for the recipient of the above described Award on the terms and conditions stated 
above or incorporated by reference therein. 

Date of Acceptance: 
Authorized Signature 

Title (typed) 

Billy Wayne Sharp

August 13, 2018

Chairman

39



Georgia Department of Community Mfairs 
Statement of OneGeorgia Equity Fund General Conditions 

Page 1 of 3 

Recipient: Putnam Development Authority Award Number: 18gq-117-3-4903 

J. Unless otherwise stated, upon approval of the OneGeorgia Authority, up to 90% of the total award may be drawn
down as soon as the award docwnents are properly executed, special conditions (if any) cleared, and appropriate
cost documentation submitted. Draws will be processed on an as-needed basis but no more than twice per week.
The final 10% will only be paid after completion of the OneGeorgia portion of the project, satisfilctory submission
of the interim or final report (depending on overall project status) and copies of cancelled checks, bank statements
and/or other appropriate documentation related to the OneGeorgia-funded activities of the project.

2. Recipient's internally adopted procurement procedures must meet applicable state and Jocal requirements (e.g., HB
I 079). The procedures will be adhered to and proper documentation shall be maintained in the program file so as
to document such adherence.

3. Drawdowns for construction costs and/or professional services shall be disbursed to the recipient subject to
OneGeorgia's approval of copies of vendor invoices or paid invoices, properly completed drawdown forms and, if
applicable, properly completed certification forms (e.g. AJA or similar). If force-account labor is used, recipient
shall provide cost documentation that is certified by the appropriate local government official. This information
should include, but not be limited to, the number of labor and/or machinery hours and their hourly rates. All
invoices must clearly display either the name of the project, or the OneGeorgia award number.

4. Drawdowns for machinery and/or equipment shall be disbursed to the recipient based on approved unpaid or paid
vendor invoices. All invoices must show the recipient as the "bill-to" entity or else be accompanied by secondary
documentation (e.g., bill of sale) that indicates title to and ownership of the subject machinery and/or equipment
has been transferred to the recipient. All invoices must clearly display either the name of the project, or the
OneGeorgia award number.

S. Drawdowns for land acquisition must demonstrate the acquisition cost (e.g., purchase option and/or sales contract).
Within 45 days of drawdown, documentation evidencing the land acquisition (i.e., executed settlement statement
and a properly recorded deed evidencing the recipient's fee simple title to the land) must be forwarded to the
OneGeorgia Authority. If the land was acquired with interim financing, the recipient must submit evidence of
secured interim financing (i.e., executed loan papers). In such a case, within 45 days of drawdown, the recipient
must provide OneGeorgia with evidence that the interim financing has been paid off (i.e., satisfied or paid
promissory note and release of any security interest in the land) and a copy of the recorded deed evidencing the
recipient's fee simple title to the land.

6. The recipient agrees to provide for the balance of funding for any cost overruns that exceed award amount.

7. The recipient certifies that all assets financed with OneGeorgia funds will be publicly owned property and that
appropriate documentation evidencing such ownership will be available for OneGeorgie review.

8. The recipient certifies that before engaging in any land-disturbing activity and before acquiring real property, it will
comply with the Environmental Policy Act (O.C.G.A. § 12-16-1 et seq.) and any other applicable laws and
regulations.

9. The recipient certifies that the project is in compliance with the applicable local government's Comprehensive Plan,
as approved by the State, is consistent with the applicable community's adopted Service Delivery Strategy and is in
compliance with the State's rules governing Developments of Regional Impact. Furthermore, the appropriate local
government is a Qualified Local Government as certified by the State.

Date of Acceptance: 
Title (typed) 

Authorized Signature Name (typed) 

(Please Sign Pages 1, 2, and 3) 

August 13, 2018 Chairman

Billy Wayne Sharp

40



Georgia Department of Community Affairs 
Statement of OneGeorgia Equity Fund General Conditions 

Recipient: Putnam Development Authority Award Number: 1 Bgq-117-3-4903 

Page2 of 3 

10. Where applicable, the recipient agrees to obtain approval from the Georgia Environmental Protection Division for
the project's plans and specifications as required. The recipient also agrees to obtain all pertinent pennits (e.g. soil
disturbance, erosion control, etc.).

11. The recipient certifies that no applicable state laws, rules, regulations or applicable local ordinances shall be violated
in carrying out this project and expending OneGeorgia funds.

12. The recipient certifies that no conflicts of interest exist with regard to this project. For more information about what
constitutes a conflict of interest, consult the OneGeorgia Recipient's Manual.

13. The recipient certifies that without limitation of any other condition, OneGeorgia funds shall not be used to pay the
cost of entertainment. Entertainment costs are defined as: "costs of amusements, social activities and incidental
costs relating thereto, such as meals, beverages, lodgings, rentals, transportation, and gratuities." This definition
includes meal/beverage expenses incurred for meetings which could reasonably have been conducted at a place of
business and which did not require the provision of a meal.

14. All applications as well as supporting documentation submitted to the OneGeorgia Authority shall be subject to the
provisions governing Georgia Open Records requests. All records pertinent to the OneGeorgia project, whether
financial or programmatic, shall be maintained by the recipient for a minimum of three years from the date offonnal
grant close-out.

I 5. Local government recipients shall maintain their accounting records in accordance with the Uniform Chart of
Accounts For Local Governments in Georgia, as mandated under state law (O.C.G.A. § 36-81-3), and all recipients
shall undergo an annual financial audit conducted in accordance with Generally Accepted Government Auditing
Standards. A Source and Application of Funds Schedule and a Project Cost Schedule for all OneGeorgia funds must
be included in the audit report. The recipient shall submit to the OneGeorgia Authority copies of all audits that
cover all or part of the award period.

16. Development Authorities with powers set forth in Chapter 62 of Title 36 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated
must adhere to O.C.G.A. § 36-62-7 and any other applicable law or regulation when selling or leasing assets funded
in whole or in part with OneGeorgia funds.

17. The OneOeorgia award will remain "open" until the entire project (including activities funded by other sources) is
complete. After project completion, OneGeorgia will conduct a close-out site visit of the project to determine the
project's consistency with objectives and goals stated in the application. The site visit will also consist of a
quantitative measure of the public benefits ( e.g. jobs created, private investtnent). If OneGeorgia funds are used for
a "soft" project (e.g. feasibility study), a copy of the OneGeorgia-funded project should be forwarded to the
OneGeorgia Authority for review upon completion. If either the site visit or project review is determined to be
satisfactory, an award close-out letter will be issued to the recipient.

18. The recipient will be responsible for submitting semi-annual progress reports to the OneGeorgia Authority for the
term of the award. These reports are due June 30 and December 31 of each year. Recipients who are not up-to-date
on their semi-annual reporting requirements may not be eligible to draw and/or receive funds from the OneGeorgia
Authority.

Date of Acceptance: 
Title (typed) 

Authorized Signature Name (typed) 

(Please Sign Pages 1, 2 and 3) 

August 13, 2018 Chairman

Billy Wayne Sharp

41



Georgia Department of Community Affairs 
Statement of OneGeorgia Equity Fund General Conditions 

Recipient: Putnam Development Authority Award Number: 18gq-117-3-4903 

Page 3 of3 

19. The Recipient, by signing these Conditions, is certifying that it will comply with the requirements of O.C.G.A. § 50
-36 entitled "Verification of Lawful Presence Within United States" and verify the lawful presence in the United
States of any natural person 18 years of age who bas applied for state or local public benefits, as defined in 8 U.S.C.
Section I 621, or for federal public benefits, defined in U.S.C. Section 1611, that is administered by an agency or a
political subdivision of this state.

20. The Recipient, by signing these conditions, is certifying that it will comply with the requirements of O.C.G.A. § 13
-10-91 under Article 3 entitled "Security and Immigration Compliance." This requires, among other things, that
every public employer, including, but not limited to, every municipality and county, will register and participate in
the federal work authorization program to verify employment eligibility of all newly hired employees. For more
information, including a link to the Homeland Security website and the 1-9 Form requirements for all new
employees, see the OGA Recipient Manual and Fonns Page at: http:!/www.onegeorgia.org

21. The OneGeorgia Authority expects that all assets constructed, improved and/or purchased with OneGeorgia funds
will be used for the approved use for no less than five years from the award date. OneGeorgia should be contacted
immediately if there is a proposed change in use. OneGeorgia will require repayment of the award in the event a
facility and/or asset is converted to an ineligible use or from public ownership.

22. For EDGE projects only: the recipient certifies that in accordance with Section 413-2.05(6) of the EDGE regulation,
it will be accountable for this state EDGE expenditure made in partial consideration of assisting the recipient in
fulfilling its mission as outlined in its EDGE application, local inducement resolution and local development
agreements.

23. The EDGE/REBA program generally requires all Special Conditions to be cleared before funds can be drawn down.
Requests for drawdown of EDGE/REBA funds must be accompanied by adequate supporting cost
documentation (including approved pay request(s) and/or invoices), certified by the Authority to demonstrate
local oversight, and copies provided of cancelled checks or EFT payment verification for the cost
documentation being submitted. No funds will be paid without complete documentation to support the
drawdown requesL

Date of Acceptance: 
Title (typed) 

Authorized Signature Name (typed) 

(Please Sign Pages 1, 2 and 3) 

August 13, 2018 Chairman

Billy Wayne Sharp

42



Statement of Special Conditions 

Recipient Putnam Development Authority Award_No 1 Sqq-117-3-4903 

01. Prior to drawdown of funds, the recipient must submit for OneGeorgia Authority approval final executed copies
of the bid specifications and tabulations and contract(s), for the proposed project. (Please submit all required
documents at one time.)

Date of Acceptance: 
Authorized Signature 

Name (typed) 

Title (typed) 

August 13, 2018

Billy Wayne Sharp

Chairman

43



Georgia Department of Community Affairs 
OneGeorgia Equity Fund Approved Budget 

Recipient: Putnam Development Authority Award Number: 18gq-117-3-4903 

Activity Code Activity Budget 

I 1 G70-1101-I Site Preparation $148,081 

G70-1401-I Water $35,360 

G70-1402-I Sewer $34,600 

G70-1405-I Streets $161,450 

G70-1414-I Public Infrastructure (other) $2,400 

G70-2101-I General (other) $64,661 

Budget Total $446,552 

Project Description 

The Putnam Development Authority is seeking $446,552 to assist in site preparation and infrastructure 

improvements within the South Eatonton-Putnam Industrial Park. The park is 309 acres with 116 acres available for 
development. This project proposes site preparation and Infrastructure improvements on the front 50 acres of the 
available land to create a pad-ready site. These enhancements will help create fifty acres of Georgia Ready for 
Accelerated Development (GRAD) certified site to market toward prospective Industries. Proposed Improvements 

include water extension, sewer extension, site clearing and road construction. There are currently no pad-ready sites 
in Putnam County and the Development Authority has chosen to develop the site within South Eatonton-Putnam 

Industrial Park due to its location near existing manufacturing and distribution facilities. This project includes a local 
investment of $436,270, including $336,270 from the Putnam Development Authority and $100,000 In SPLOST 
dollars from Putnam County. 

Date of Acceptance: 
Authorized Signature 

Name (typed) 

Title (typed) 

August 13, 2018

Billy Wayne Sharp

Chairman

44



- · -

� G 
. I "', 'II I I--· 

II eor91a. llc..l ,-�,:(I . 

Community Affairs 
-------·-- - ·- - -·----�--

ONEGEORGIA _. I • - - r· n 

AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE CARD 

FOR DRAWDOWN OF FUNDS 

UNDER ONEGEORGIA AUTHORITY PROGRAM 

Name of Recipient: Award Number: 

SIGNATURES OF INDIVIDUALS AUTHORIZED Q ONLY ONE SIGNATURE REQUIRED

TO DRAW ON THE CITED AWARD or 

n /WY TWO SIGNATURES REQUIRED 

Typed Name and Signature Typed Name and Signature 

Typed Name and Signature Typed Name and Signature 

I CERTIFY THAT THE SIGNATURES ABOVE ARE OF THE INDMDUALS 
AUTHORIZED TO DRAW PAYMENT UNDER THE GRANT CITED ABOVE; 

SIGNATURE OF AUTHORIZING OFFICIAL {ReCIQ/en[) DATE 

INSTRUCTIONS: 

1. In order to expedite drawdowns, we request that you list at least two individuals who are authorized to initiate a
drawdown.

2. Signature of Authorizing Official must have legal authority to sign on behalf of recipient.
3. Please make sure name is typed next to each individual signature
4. Funds will be sent via ACH wire transfer. You should also complete the Vendor Management Bank Account for

automatic deposits.

Note: On all Requests for Drawdowns, please include a formal cover letter from the certifying representative that 
includes: 

1. Recipient Name

2. Award ID#

3. Drawdown Request#

4. Dollar Amount of Funds Requested

5. Statement of Certification:

I have reviewed and certify that the attached invoices or listing and the cost documentation
are for eligible expenses related to this Drawdown Request.

Putnam Development Authority 18gp-117-3-4903

X

Billy Wayne Sharp Joshua Daniel

Terry Schwindler Charles Edward Waggoner

August 13, 2018

45



---
-- ---

\/[NDOR MANAGEMENT FORM (Te.imV✓orks) 

The Initiating Agency will submit this form to the Vendor Management Group for verification and approval. Agency must 

complete section 5 of the farm ta obtain approval. 

SECTION 1-VENDOR IDENTIFICATION (COMPLETE ALL APPLICABLE FIELDS) 

VENDOR NUMBER: _____________ _ FEI/SSN/EMP ID NUMBER: __________ _ 

VENDOR NAME:-----------------------------------

PAYMENT ALT NAME: (IF CHECK rs TO BE PAYABLE IN A DIFFERENT NAME) ________________ _ 

ADDRESS:. ___________________________________ _ 

CITY: ____________ STATE: ________ ZIP CODE: _______ COUNTRY:. _____ _ 

PHONE NUMBER: _______________ FAX NUMBER: _______________ _ 

CONTACT EMAIL: ___________________________________ _ 

PYMT REMITEMAIL _________________________ LOC#, ________ _ 

PYMT REMIT EMAIL oed.drawpayments@dca.ga.gov 
LOC# _________ _ 

SECTION 2- BANK ACCOUNT INFORMATION (ATTACH COPY OF VOIDED CHECK) 

ROUTING#. ____________ _ BANK ACCOUNT# _____________ _

D Check here If General Bank Account can be used by ALL State of Georgia agencies making payments

0 Check here if this account can only be used for a SPECIFIC purpose ________________ _
I Indicate specific purpose for which this account can be used) 

I authorize the State of Georsla to deposit payment for goods or services received Into the provided bank account by the Automated Clearing House (ACH). I further 
acknowledge that thls asreement Is to remain In full effect until such time as changes to the bank account Information are submitted In wrltlns by the vendor or Individual 
named above. I understand It ls the sole responslblllty of the vendor or Individual to notify the State of Georiila of any changes to the bank account Information. 

(Vendor Printed Name) (Vendor Signature) (Date) 

SEOION 3 -SPECIFY TYPE OF ACTION (CHECK ALL THAT APPLY) 

□ New Vendor □ E•Payable □ 1099 Code ______ _

□ Classlflc:atlon Change_______ □ Add address □ FEI/TIN Change ..
D Name Change•• D Change of Address: Address#____ D Other fprovlde details In Section 4)
D Bank Account Add D Bank Account Chanse D Bank Account Delete

Documentation for Vendor Name/TIN changes must Include at least one of the following: IRS documentation ftax documents, FEI Issuance letter, etc); 
Confirmation from Secretary of State's office of legal name change OR a newly completed W•9 form provided by the vendor 

SIC CODES (CHECK All THAT APPLY) 

□ Small Business D Women Owned 

D GA Based Business D Minority Business Certlfled 

SEOION 4 -ADDITIONAL COMMENTS 

□ Minority Business Enterprise

□ Hlspanlc•Latlno

□ African American

D Native American

D Asian American 

□ Pacific Islander

SEOION S -STATE OF GEORGIA AGENCY CONT AO INFORMATION (OFFICE USE ONLY) 

By my signature, I certify that all reasonable effort has been made to submit Information that Is accurate, true, and Is 
associated with the vendor name and Tax ID listed above. 

Requester Name: Denise Robinson Agency BU#: 42800 Date: _____ _ 

Signature: _______________________________________ _ 

Email: denise.robinson@dca.ga.gov Phone: 404.679.5273 Fax#: 404.679.3143

Putnam Development Authority

117 Putnam Drive

Eatonton GA 31024 USA

706-816-8099

tschwindler@putnamdevelopmentauthority.com

tschwindler@putnamdevelopmentauthority.com

Billy Wayne Sharp 08-13-18

X

X 18gp-117-3-4903

46



VENDOR MANAGEMENT FOR[\1 (TeamWorks) 1 

The Initiating Agency will submit this form to the Vendor Management Group for vt!rl/lcatlon and approval. Agency must 
compltte section 5 of the form to obtain approval. 

SECTION 1-VENDOR IDENTIFICATION (COMPLETE ALL APPLICABLE FIELDS) 

. VENDOR NUMBER: Leave Blank FEI/S5N/EMP ID NUMBER:._F_il_l-_ln ________ _
VENDOR NAME: Enter the name of the account holder (Dev Authority, City, County, etc.) 

PAYMENT ALT NAME: (IF CHECK IS TO BE PAYABLE IN A DIFFERENT NAME)_L_e_a_v _e _B_l_a_nk ____________ _

ADDRESS: Enter Street Address (Must Match Bank Information) 

crrv: Enter City Name STATE: GA ZIP CODE: XX)()()( COUNTRY: USA ·-------· ------

FAX NUMBER: Account Holder Fax Number 
PHONE NUMBER: Account Holder Phone Number 

CONTACT EMAIL: Email Address for award contact 

PYMT REMIT EMAIL Email(s) for payment notification LOC# ________ _ 

PYMT REMIT EMAIL oed.drawpayments@dca.ga.gov LOC#, _________ _ 

SECTION 2 - BANK ACCOUNT INFORMATION (ATTACH COPY OF VOIDED CHECK) 

ROUTING # Enter bank routing number BANK ACCOUNT# Enter bank account number 

D Check here if Gene�I Bank Account can be used by ALL State of Georgia agencies making payments 

[l) Check here if this account can only be used for a SPECIFIC purpose_E_n_te_r_G_ra_n_t_A_w_ar_d_# ________ _ 
(Indicate specific purpose for which this account can be usedl 

I authorize the State of Georgia to deposit payment for goods or services received Into the provided bank account bv the Automated Clearing House (ACHI. I further 
acknowledge that this agreement Is to remain In full effect until such time as changes to the bank account information are submitted In writing by the vendor or Individual 
named above. I understand It Is the sole responsibility of the vendor or lndlvldual to notify the State of Geofllla of any changes to the bank account Information. 

Name of Person Authorized to Sign Form 
(Vendor Printed Name) (Vendor Signature) (Date) 

SECTION 3 -SPECIFY TYPE OF ACTION (CHECK ALL THAT APPLY)

□ New Vendor □ £-Payable □ 1099 Code. _____ _
□ Classlflcatlon Change______ □ Add address O FEI/TIN Change ..
□ Name Change•• □ Change of Address: Address#____ D Other (provide detalls In Section 41
□ Bank Account Add D Bank Account Change O Bank Account Delete

Documentation for Vendor Name/TIN changes must Include at least one of the following: IRS documentation (tax documents, FEI issuance letter, etc); 
Confirmation from Secretary of State's office of legal name change OR a newly completed W-9 form provided by the vendor, 

SIC CODES (CHECK ALL THAT APPLY! 

□ Small Business 0 Women Owned 

□ GA Based Business D Minority Business Certified 

SECTION 4 -ADDITIONAL COMMENTS 

D Minority Business Enterprise 

D Hispanic-Latino 

SECTION 5 -STATE OF GEORGIA AGENCY CONTACT INFORMATION {OFFICE USE ONLY} 

D African American 

D Native American 

D Asian American 

D Pacific Islander 

By my signature, I certify that all reasonable effort has been made to submit Information that Is accurate, true, and Is 

associated with the vendor name and Tax ID listed above. 

Requestor Name: Denise Robinson Agency BU#: 42800 Date:. ______ _ 

Signature: _____________________________________ _ 

Ematl: denise.robinson@dca.ga.gov 

StotrAaounllng�o/GCOtJPOllnlml06/22/20J7 

Phone: 404.679.5273 Fax#: 404. 679.3143

47



� (i 
{j Georaia· 1.Jc.,J t•,,··,: d ' 

' ' 

Community Affairs 
ONEGEORGIA ' ·, '· l ·

AGREEMENT TO PROVIDE INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT 

Recipient Name. __________________ _ 

Recipient 
Address ______________________ _ 

Contact person for Information on Independent audit ________ _ 

Phone # ______ E-mail Address __________ _ 

Fiscal Year End of Recipient _______________ _ 

Month Independent audit Is generally available for review _______ _ 

REQUEST FOR COPY OF AUDIT REPORT 

Recipient of OneGeorgla funds understands that a copy of the independent 
audit report, complete with schedules, attachments and accompanying 
letter from outside auditors, should be mailed to the address listed below 
for each fiscal year that OneGeorgia funds are received or expended by the 
recipient. Failure to provide timely audit information may result in 
sanctions against the recipient as outlined in the recipient's manual. 

Where to Mall Outside Audit Reports 

OneGeorgia Authority 
Georgia Department of Community Affairs 

60 Executive Park South, NE 
Atlanta, Georgia 30329 

Signature of Authorized Representative 

Typed Name of Representative 

___________ Date. _____ _ 

Putnam Development Authority

117 Putnam Drive, Eatonton, GA 31024

Terry Schwindler

706-816-8099 tschwindler@putnamdevelopmentauthority.com

September 30

February

Billy Wayne Sharp August 13, 2018

48



ONEGEORGIA AWARD PROCEDURES . . . 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

• INTRODUCTION
• CHAPTER 1: GENERAL INFORMATION and REQUIREMENTS

o Section 1- Award and Acceptance of OGA Funds
o Section 2 - Overview of Award Documents
o Section 3 - Overview of Administrative and Financial Forms

• CHAPTER 2: MAJOR APPLICABLE COMPLIANCE REGULATIONS
o Section 1- Applicable Laws and Regulatlons
o Section 2 - Employment Eliglblllty Verification

• Of APTER 3: CASH MANAGEMENT
o Section 1 • Cash Depository
o Section 2 - Prior to Orawdown of Funds
o Section 3 - Drawdown Requests -What to submit
o Section 4 - Timing the Drawdown Request
o Section S - Instructions for Preparing Drawdown Requests

•• OIAPTER 4: ACCOUNTING & FINANCAL MANAGEMENT
o Section 1 • F.lnanclal Management System
o Section 2 - Audit Requirements
o Section 3 • Procurement Standards
o Section 4 • Bonding and Insurance

• OIAPTER 5: PROJECT ADMINISTRATION
o Section 1 • Monitoring Project Performance and Compliance
o Section 2- lmplementatfon Timeframes
o Section 3 • Public �ecords
o Section 4 -Retention of Records
o �Ion 5 - Program Amendments, Budget Revisions, Other Adjustments
o Se'ctlon 6 - Conflict bf Interest Prohlbltlon
o Section 7 - Sanctions
o Section 8 • Continued Use of Facflltles
o Section 9 • Close-out Procedures

1 

(Rev.12/2013) 

49



INTRODUCTION 

This instruction guide is for use by the local Recipient In the day-to-day administration of the 
OneGeorgia Award. Though not all-inclusive, it covers all the major areas of administration, 
provides both required and suggested forms and Instructions, and it references applicable laws 
and regulations. 

For more information or assistance, the Recipient is encouraged to contact the OneGeorgia 
Authority via telephone or email. 

CHAPTER 1: GENERAL INFORMATION AND REQUIREMENTS 

CHAPTER 1, SECTION 1: AWARD AND ACCEPTANCE OF ONEGEORGIA FUNDS 

WHAT YOU SHOUW REalVE: 

Upon approval of an application for an Award, the OneGeorgia Authority (OGA) will present to 
the Recipient's certifying representative �n original and one copy of the following Award 

Documents: 

These 5 documents should be executed and returned to OGA within 30 days. Please retain a 
copy of these documents for your records. 

• Statement of Award
• Statement of General Conditions
• Statement of Special Conditions (If applicable)
• Statement of Revisions (if applicable)
• Approved Budget Breakdown

fn this package, the Recipient will also receive the following Flnancial/Admlnlstratlve·forms: 

The flrst 3 documents and a VOIDED check from a dedicated (OGA/this project) account must 
be signed and returned to OGA along with the executed award documents and prior to 
submitting drawdown requests. 

• Vendor Management Bank Account Form
• Authorized Signature card for Drawdown of Funds
• Agreement to Provide Independent Audit Report
• Request for Drawdown of Funds
• Project Report Form

2 

(Rev.12/2013) 

50



IMPORTANT NOTE: 

The Recipient's certifying representative (Mayor, Chair of (:ounty �ommisslon, Chair of 
Development Authority or other authorized official). should examine these documents closely 
and understand them before signing and dating all copies. 

Once signed, the Qrlglnal copy of the Statement of Award, Statement of General Conditions, 
Statement of Special COndlt(ons, Statement of Revisions (if applicable) 'and Approved Budget 
Breakdown must be returned to OGA within thirty (30) days of award as evidence of 
acceptance of the award. 

The Recipient should retain the second copy of the Award documents listed above. 

CHAPTER 1, SECTION 2: OVERVIEW OF AWARD DOCUMENTS 

A. Statement of Award will be signed by the Commissioner of the Georgia Department of
Community Affairs for the OneGeorgla Authoot)'.

o Award ID Number Is un·lq1'e to ,he P,�; should be used on � correspondence.
o Award Period Is length .. of time R�clplent has to complete project. Extensions on this

endlng-�te �Y �.granted If drcu�.nces warrant such extension.
B. Statement of G�I Conditions •� appllt1'b!e to all OneGeorgla awards. General Conditions

are mostly "-common .sense,• but�,r adcfitlor!;-1 e,nphasls:
o GC·Oi. Unless otherwise �d, UP01)1 approval of the OneGeorila Authority, up to 90%

of the total award may be. drawn down as soon as !he award documents are properly
executed, special conditions (If any) cleared and appropriate cost documentation
submitted. Draws will be processed on an as-needed basis, but no more than once per
week. The final 1°" wlll only be paid ;after COR'!pletlon of the °"eGeorgla portion of the
project, satisfactory submission of the lnte�l,n or finaJ report (depending on overall
project status) and copies of cancelled checks, bank statements and/or other
appropriate documenta�lon related to the OneGeorgla -funded ,alvltles of the project:

o GC � Recipient's lntemally adopted pr�rement proe:e_fl.�res must meet applicable
state and k>cal requirements (e.g., HB, 1079,) The procedu,_ will be adhered to and
proper documentation shall-be maintained In the pq111m file so as to document such
adhere�ce.

o GC 03. Drawdowns for construction costs and/or profess Iona I services shall be dls6ursed
to the recfplent subject to OneGeorgl�a .�pproval of copies of vendor Invoices or paid
Invoices, ·properly completed drawdown forms and, If applicable, properly completed
certification forms (e.g. AIA or slmUar.) If force-account labor Is used, recipient shall
provide cost documentation that ls certified by the appropriate local government
official. This Information �hould Include, but not be llmlt�d to, the number of labor
and/or machinery hours and their hourly rates. AR Invoices must clearly display the
name·of the project and the,OneGeorgla award number.

o GC 04� Drawdowns for machilery and.J,or ,qulpp,ent shall be disbursed to the recipient
based on approved unpaid or paid venijor Invoices. All Invoices must show the recipient
as the "bltl-to" entity or else be accompanied by secondary documentation (e.g., bill of
sale) that Indicates title to and ownership of the subject machinery and/or equipment
has been transferred to the recipient. All Invoices must clearly display the name of the
project and the OneGeorgla award number.

3 
(Rev.12/2013) 

51



o GC OS. Orawdowns for land acquisition must demonstrate the acquisition cost (e.g.,
purchase option and/or sales contract.) Within 45 days of drawdown, documentation
evidencing the land acquisition· (I.e., executed settlerpent statement and a properly
recotded deed evidencing the recipient's fee simple title t� the land) must be forwarded
to the OneGeo,sia Authority. If the land was acquired with Interim financing, the
recipient must submit evidence of secured interim financing (I.e., executed toan papers.)
In such a case, within 45 days of drawdown, the recipient must provide OneGeorgia with
evidence that the Interim financing has been paid off (I.e., satisfied or paid promissory
note and release of any security Interest in the land) and a copy of the recorded deed
evidencing the recipient's fee simple title to the land.

o GC 06. The recipient agrees to provide for the balance of funding for any cost overruns
that exceed award amount.

o GC 07. The recipient certifies that all assets financed with OneGeorgla funds will be
publicly owned property and that appropriate documentation evidencing such
ownership will be available for OneGeorsia review.

o GC 08. The recipient certifies that before engaging in any land-d�turbing activity and
before acquiring real property, it will comply with the Environmental Policy Act
(O.C.G.A. § 12-16-1 et seq.) and any other applicable laws and regulations.

o GC 09. Th� recipient certifies that the project Is In compliance with the applicable local
government's Comprehensive Plan as approved by t�e State, � consistent with the
applicable community's adopted Service Delivery Strategy and Is In compliance with the
State's rules governing Developments of �eglonal Impact. Furthermore, the appropriate
local government Is a Qualified local Government as certified by the State.

o GC 10. Where applicable, the recipient agrees to obtain approval from the Georgia
Environmental Protection Division for the project's plans and specifications as required.
The recipient also agrees to obtain all pertinent permits (e.g. soil disturbance, erosion
control, etc.)

o GC 11. The recipient certifies that no applicable state laws, rules, regulations or
applicable local ordinances shall be violated In carrying out this project and expending
OneGeorgla funds.

o GC U. The recipient certifies that no co�fllcts of lnt�rest exist with regard to this
project. No real or apparent e9nfllct of interest shall b� engaged In by any person or
party (or any person or party with whom they have famlfy or business ties) who Is

Involved In any aspect of the OneGeorsla project.
o GC 13. The recipient ce�iftes that without limitation of any 9ther condition, OneGeorgia

funds shall not be used- to pay the cost of entertainment. Entertainment costs are
defined as; •costs of amusements, social activities and Incidental costs relating thereto,
such as meals, �everages, lodgings, rentals, transportation, and gratuities." This
definition lncfudes me,J/beverage expenses Incurred for meetings which could
reasonably have been conducted at a place of business and which did not require the
provision of a meal.

o GC 14. All applications as well a� supponlng documentation submitted to the
OneGeorgla Authority shall be subject to the provisions go�emlng Georgia Open
Records requests. All records pertinent to the OneGeorgia project, whether financial or
programmatic, shall be m�lntalned by the recipient for a minimum of three years from
the date of formal grant dose-out.

o GC 15. local government recipients shall maintain their accounting records In
accordance with the Uniform Chart of Accounts for Local Governments in Georsla as

4 

(Rev.12/2013) 

52



mandated under state law (O.C.G.A. § 36-81-3), and all recipients shall undergo an 
annual financial audit conducted In accordance with Generally Accepted Government 
Auditing Standa�. A Source � 'Appllcitlon of Funds ·Sch'edule and a Project Cost 
Schedule for all OneGeol'lla funds must be Included In the audit report. The recipient 
shall submit to the OneGeorgla Authority copies of all audits that cover all or part of the 
award period. 

o GC 16. Development Authorities with powers set forth In Chapter 62 of Title 36 of the
Official Code of Georgia Annotated must adhere to O.C.G.A. § 36-62-7 and any other
applicable law or regulation when selltng or leaslog assets funded in whole or In part
with OneGeorgia funds.

o GC 17. The O!'\eGeorgla award wilt. remain "open• until the entire project (Including
activities funded by other sources) Is complete. After project completion, OneGeorgia
wDI conduct a clo��ut site vis� of the project to determine the project's consistency
with objectives and goals stated In the application. The Site· visit wlll also consist of a
quantitative me�!Jre of,� public benefits (e.g. Jobs created, private Investment.) If
OneGeorgla funds are used for a •soft" project (e.g. feasibility study), a copy of the
OneGeorgla-funded project sh�kl � fol'Wl!rded to the OneGeorgla Authority for
review upon completion. If either the site visit ot project review Is determined to be
satisfactory, ari award close-out letter will be Issued to the recipient.

o '?C 18. The recipient will be respo(lsl61e for submitting semi-annual project reports to 
the OneGeorgla Authorify for the term of the award. These reports are due June 30 and
December 31 of each year. Recipients who are not up-tCHfate on their semi-annual
reporting requirements may not be eligible to draw and/or receive funds from the
OneGeorgla Authority.

o GC19. The Recipient, by signing these Condttl9ns, Is certifying that It will comply with
the requirements of O.C.GA 50-36 entitled "Verfflcatlon of Lawful Presence Within
United States• and verify the lawful present!! In the United States of any natural person
18 years of age who has applied for �te or local public benefits, as defined In 8 u.s.c.· Section 1621, or for federal public benefits, defined In U.S.C Section 1611, that Is
administered by an agency or a political sub�Mslon of this state.

o GQO. The ·Recjpient, by sfgnfng these �i,cU:tlons, Is certtfvl.0$ that It wlll comply with
the requirements of O.C.G.A. 13-10-91 of Article 3 entitled •Security and Immigration
Compliance•. This requires, among other things, that every pubfic employer, Including,
but not limited to, every ry\Unlctpaltty and county, will resister and participate In the
federal work authorization program to verify employment effsiblllty of all newly hired
employees. For more tnformatlo,n, lncl,udl,!18 � link to the Homeland Security website and
the 1-9 Form requirements for all new employees, s·ee· tile 0GA Recipient Manual and
Forms Pase at http;llwww.onegeonda.org.

o GC 2L The OneGeorgla Authority expe� that all assets constructed, Improved and/or
purchased with OneGeorgla funds will be used for the ipproved use for no less than flve
years from the award date. OneGeorgla should be contacted Immediately If there Is a
proposed change In use. OneGeorgia wiJI require repayment of the award In the event a
facility and/or asset is convert"' to an lnellglble use or from public ownership.

o GC 22:. For EDGE pro]ects onty: the recipient certifies that In accordance with Section
413-2.05(6) of the EDGE regulation, It will be accountable for this state EDGE
expenditure made In partial consideration of assisting the recipient In fuffllflng Its
mission as outlined In Its EDGE appflcatlon, local Inducement resolution and focal
development agreements.

5 
(Rev.12/2013) 

53



o GC 23. The EDGE program generally requires all Special Conditions to be cleared before
funds can be drawn down. Requests for drawdown of EDGE funds must be
accompanied by adequate supporting cost documentation (Including approved pay
request(sJ and/or Invoices), certified by the Authority to demonstrate local oversight,
and copies provided of cancelled checks or EFT payment verification for the cost
documentation being submitted. No funds will be paid without complete
documentation to support the drawdown request.

C. Statement of Special Conditions, if applicable, will vary from award to award and may address a
number of different Issues.

o Generally, Special Conditions will restrict drawdown of funds until necessary clearances
have been obtained.

o The Recipient should be clearly aware of all Special Conditions attached to the award
and should make every effort to clear them as promptly as possible.

o Clearance of Special Conditions Is given by OGA by issuance of an Adjustment Notice
after receipt and approval of evidence of compliance.

o Official notification of clearance of a Special Condition will be malled to the Recipient
and should be retained In the award flies.

o Comments on specific Special Conditions:
I. Compliance with ORI regulations, if applicable
ll. Compliance with GEPA
Ill. Compliance with State Procurement procedures

0. Statement of Revisions will also vary from award to award and will list any changes made by
OGA to the application.

E. Approved Budget will list each activity code, a description and an activity budget.
o The total of all line Item activity budgets wilt equal the amount of the award on the

award document,
o Awardee should review the budget breakdown by line Item as compared to request

prior to execution and return of documents to OneGeorgia.
o These line Items and corresponding amounts will be the maximum amount allowed for

the project.
o In order for the drawdown requests to be handled as expeditiously as possible, ft is

Important that the activity codes and amount requested on each drawdown be within
the app�oved budget.

CHAPTER 1, SECTION 3: OVERVIEW OF ADMINISTRATIVE AND FINANCIAL FORMS 

A. Vendor Management Bank Account Form
o Must be completed and returned with the following Information:

I. Award Recipient name on the Vendor Name fine
ii. Award Recipient Federal ID#
Ill. Award Recipient Email 
iv. Account number established to receive only OneGeorgla funds for this project

. shown on the Spedfic: Purpose Acct # line
v. Bank routing numbers for ACH transfer {same as on voided check)
vi. Typed name of Recipient's certifying representative on the Vendor Printed

Name line
vii. Signature of Recipient's certifying representative on the Vendor Signature line
viii. Date of signature

6 
(Rev. 12/2013) 

54



Ix. Sections 2, 3 and 4 of the form will be completed by OneGeorgla 
o Voided check from account opened to receive OneGeorgla ·funds only

I. A voided check, not a deposit slip, Is required to set-up the funds transfer
process.

B. Authorized Signature Card for Orawdown of Funds
o The Recipient's certifying representative must have legal authority to sign on behatf of

the recipient.
o Must be signed by at least two signatories (one of whom must be a local government

employee) who are authorized to request payment of funds under the award
agreement.

o Che(:k the box designating either one (1) or two (2) slgnatur� as required by local
government procurement procedures.

o The Redplent1s certifying representative should sign the card to certify that the
Individuals named are Indeed authorized to request payment and that the signatures on
the card are theirs. No erasures or corrections may appear on this form.

o NOTE: The Recipient's certifying representative may be a signatory as well as certify the
signatures. ff so, the certifying representative must sign the card separately as a
signatory and as the certifying offldal.

CHAPTER Z: MAJOR APPU�LE COMPLIANCE REGULATIONS 

CHAPTER 2, SECTION 1: APPLICABLE lAW� AND REGULATIONS 

Certain State laws and regulations are applicable In part or in whole to the OneGeorgia 
Authority programs. To assist Recipients in meeting applicable requirements, the OneGeorgla 
Authority provides guidance In the form of these procedures, on-site technical assistance and 
through the sponsorships of workshops and training conferen.ces. 

The applicable laws and regulations (classified In general by compliance area) include but are 
not limfted to: 

General: 

• State of Georgia OneGeorgla Authority Program Regulations.
• Title 50, Chapter 18, Artlcle 4, Offldal Georgia Code1 Georgia Open Records Act.

Acqulsltlon/Reloatlon: 

• Georgia Real Estate Appraiser Licensing and Certification Act (OCGA Section 43-39-A·l thru 43-
39 A-27)

• The Georgia Relocation Assistance and Land Acquisition Polley Act of 1973.
• The Georgia Urban Redevelopment Law (OCGA, Section 36-61·1, et. seq.)

Environmental: 

• Geo,sla Air Quality Act of 1978 (OCGA Section 12-9-1, et. seq.) to regulate air pollution and
protect air quality.

7 
(Rev. 12/2013) 

55



• Shore Assistance Act of 1977 (OCGA Section 12-5-230, et. seq.)
• Georgia Hazardous Waste Management Act (OCGA 12-8-60, et. seq.)
• Georgia Health Code (OCGA 31-3-1, et. seq.) regulates Individual sewerage treatment systems.
• Georgia Coastal Marshlands Protection Act of 1970.
• Georgia Groundwater Use Act of 1972 (OCGA Section 12-5-170, et. seq.)
• Georgia Safe Drinking Water Act of 1977 (OCGA Section U-7-1, et. seq.)
• Georgia Erosion and Sedimentation Act of 1975 (OCGA Section 12-7-1, et. seq.)
• Georgia Solid Waste Management Act (OCGA Section 12-8-20, et. seq.) for collecting garbage or

operating a landfill.
• Georgia Water Quality Control Act (OCGA Section 12-S-20, et. seq.)
• Georgia Environmental Policies Act (LOCGA Section 12-16-1, et. seq.)

Other: 

• Georgia Handicap Accessibility Law (OCGA, Title 30, Chapter 3)

CHAPTER 2, SECTION 2: EMPLOYMENT ELIGIBILITY VERIFICATION 

Employment EliglbUity Verification: USC1S Employment Eligibility Verifqtlon 
(includes the 1-9 Form and requirements for all new employees) 

Guidance for OGA Recipients on Employment Ellglblllty Verification 

Forward: Consult with your local attorney regarding both O.C.G.A. §13-10-91, "Verification of New 
Employee Eligibility" and O.C.G.A. §50-36 "Verification of Lawful Presence within U.S." prior to 
undertaking an OneGeorgla Authority (OGA) project. As state laws, these apply to local governments 
regardless of whether or not an OGA PfOject Is being undertaken. As such, the laws have broad 
applicability to local government undertakings and reviewing these laws with your attorney Is an 
appropriate first step In order to ensure compliance. Please note also that this Information Is current 
through the end of the 2012 legislative session. 

OGA Redplents and Employment El� Verification: O.C.G.A. § 13-10-91 and O.C.G.A. § S0-36 are 
state laws (summarized below) that may Impact local government OGA projects. Because DCA Is not the 
state agency charsed with enforcement of these laws, we monitor for compliance on a limited basis and 
primarily to alert local governments to the Implications of these laws on OGA projects. See the Sections 
below regarding monitoring. Note that the Georgia Department of Audits and Accounts (DOAA) Is the 
primary enforcement agency for these laws and that DOAA has the responsibility for auditing 
compliance, regardless of whether or not the project or actMty Is funded with OGA dollars. In addttk>n, 
because DCA has only a limited role in monitoring; so, DCA strongly encourages communities and 
development authorities to-consult primary resources for addressing these laws' requirements. Primary 
resources include: 1) local government attorney; 2) Department of Audits and Accounts; 3) Department 
of Law; 4) either the Georgia Municipal Association (GMA) of the Association of County Commissioners 
Georgia {ACCG). 

8 
(Rev. 12/2013) 

56



Summary of O.C.G.A. 13-10-91 

There are two parts of this law that lm�ct OGA Recipients: (1) This law requires ·all public employers to 
participate In the federal w9rk authorization· program (E-vertfy) to verify the employment ellglbllity of all 
newly hired employees. (2) This law also requires local governments to obtain affidavits from their 
contractors and subcontractors to verify participation In the E-vertfy system for their newly hired 
employees. 

Note that there are other parts of this law not described here and all local governments should consult 
their attorney for assistance. GMA and ACCG have also posted extensive compliance assistance on their 
websites. 

The requirement to obtain the applicable affidavits Is based on O.C.G.A. §13-10.9l(b)(1), which states, In 
part, • A publlc employer shall not enter Into a contract ... for the physical performance of services unless 
the contractor registers and participates In the federal work authorization prcsram. Before a bid for any 
such service Is considered by a publlc employer, the bid shall Include a signed, notarized affidavit from 
the cootractor.".• The Department of Aud� and Accoi.11:its requested the assistance of the Department 
of Law to draft the affidavits required by this Code section and these required affidavits are listed under 
the Section entitled Links to Contractor and_Subcontrac:t.or Affidavits.

Monltorlnl of O.C.G.A. 13-10-91 

DCA has induded.t.� following General Condition In all OGA Grant Awards: 
GiOCral:Cqndltlon? The Recipient, by slgnl111 t"'5e conditions, ts certifying that It will comply with the 
req'uirements of O.C.G.A. 13-10-90 entitled "Security and Immigration Compffance.• This requires, 
among other thlnp, that every public employer, lncludJng, but not limited to, every municipality and 
cbunty, will register and .participate In the federal w� �qthorizatlon program to verify employment 
elfslblllty of all newly hired employees. For more Information, Including a link to the Homeland Security 
website an_d the 1-9 Form requirements for all new employees, see the OGA Manuals and Forms Page at: 
http;/lwww.oneseorslf.org. 

DCA also monitors OGA public works contracts to Insure that the Prime Contractor Affidavit requirement 
Is met. Grant recipients should o�Jln the afflj(avlts fro,n all contractors ahd jubcontractors as required 
by law. Note that DCA'.s monltoriti, of Its OGA or other Community Deri1o;,ment and Rna1111e Division
(CDFDJ grants ls not Intended to revlftl comp/Ion� with au requirements o{O.C.G.A. U-10-91. Please 
eontot:t your lot:al attonury or GMA or ACCG for all ,:ompllan� requlremenu. See the Section below 
entltled "Resources for OGA Rec!Plenu for O.C.G.A. J.3-J.o-91 and O.C.G.A. SD-36" for atldltlonal 
Information andfonm. 

S&Nnmary of O.C.G.A. 50-36 
One part of this law affecting OGA Recipients requires local governments to verify the lawful presence In
the United States of any person making appllqit,O� for a state or local public benefit such as housing 
rehabllltatlon asstsiance or down payment assistance. For further infonnatlon regarding the definition 
of a "public benJflt9, please review the DeP.,artment of Law's website found under the Section entitled 
Unlcs to State of Geo;gla Agency Resources.

Note that there are other �rts of this law not described here and all local governments should consult 
with their local attorney for assistance. GMA and ACCG ha� also posted extensive compliance 
assistance on their website. 

9 
(Rev. 12/2013) 

57



Please note that the Systematic Alien Veriftcation of Entitlement (SAVE) affidavit for pubfic benefits must 
be obtained for each and every public benefit the city or county issues. See the following web page for 
the affidavit: http:llwww.audits.ga.gov/NALGAO/Flles/OCGA 50-36-lxex2x.pdf. Pubfic benefits include 
things like occupational tax certificates (business licenses), alcohol licenses, city employee health 
benefits, and contracts. This Is all contracts, not Just public works contracts. Starting on January 1, 20U, 
all persons Including U.S. citizens applying for public benefits with the city or county will also have to 
provide a secure and verlf,ab/e document (see link below under Unks to State of Georgia Agency

Resources) before they can receive the public benefit. Currently and moving forward, any person who 
fllls out the SAVE affidavit who checks either th� Legal Permanent Resident blank or the Authorized 
Allen blank must be run through the SAVE program. This has an annual report which is due by January 1 
of each year to the Department of Community Affairs. 

Monitoring of O.C.G.A. S0-36 

DCA has Included the following General Condition in all OGA Grant Awards. The General Condition Is 
applicable to OGA public benefit activities, If any: 

§eneral Condition: The Recipient, by signing these Conditions, is certifying that It wlll comply with the 
requirements of O.C.G.A. 50-36--1 entitled "Verification of lawful Presence Within United States" and 
verify the lawful presence In the United States of any natural person 18 years of age who has applied for 
state or local public benefits, as defined In 8 U.S.C. Section 1621, or for federal public benefits, defined 
In U.S.C. Section 1611, that is administered by an agency or a political subdivision of this state. 
Note that DCA's monitoring of Its OGA or other grants Is not intended to relllew compHanu with all
HB 2 requirements. Pkase contact your local attorney or GMA or ACCG for all compliance
requirements. See the Section below enthled •unlcs to OGA Monitoring Forms for HB 81 and HB z• for
OGA Monitoring Forms that address HB 2. Note that It will be espedolly Important for all OGA housing
Recipients to lndude on their oppllmtlon Intake form the affidavit for public beM/lts at the following
link: http:llwww.audits.ga.gov/NALGAD/Ftles/OCGA 50-36-lxex2x.pdf. 

Resources for OGA Recipients for O.C.G.A. §13-10-91 and O.C.G.A. §S0-36 

Unks to State of Georgia Agency Resources 
DOAA Website: http://www.audlts.ga.gov/NALGAO/sectjon 3 affidavits.html 
Department of law Website: http://law.ga.gov/OO/channel tftle/0.2094,87670814 167693491.00.html 
Secure and Verifiable Documents: 
http://Jaw.ga.gov/vgn/lmages/portal/cit 1210/63/43/173963603Secure and verifiable document list 
"208.5.11.pdf 
OCA Public Benefits Reporting System: http://www.dca.ga.gov/PBReslstratlon/LocalP8Reg/tndex.aspx 
GMA Website: http:/Jwww.gmanet.com/MDR.aspx?CNIQ=68046 
ACCG Website: http://www.accg.org/content.asp?Content1d=1778 

Unks to Cont�ctor and Subcontractor Affidavits 
Contractor Affl(Javlt under O.C.G.A. §13-10-91(b}(1}: 
http://www.audits.ga.gov/NALGAQ/FUes/Sectlon 3 - Affidavit - OCGA 13-10-9lxbxlx.pdf 
Subcontractor Affidavit under O.C.G.A. §13-10-91(b)(3): http;llwww.audltsn,gov/NAtGAD/FHes/AG-
x654040-vl-$eCond subcontractor Affidavit under Q C G A 247 13-10-91 b 3 .pdf
Sub-subcontractor Affidavit under O.C.G.A. §13-10-91(b)(4): 
http;//www.audits.ga.gov/NAtGAD/flles/Section 3 - Affidavit - OCGA 13-10-91xbx4x.pdf 

10 
(Rev.12/2013) 

58



Public Benefits Affidavit: http://www.audlts.ga.gov/NAlGAO/Flles/OCGA S0-3&-lxex2x.pdf. 

Links to Federal Agency Resources 
E.Vertfy Website: 
http://www.uscis.gov/portal/slte/uscis/menuitem.ebld4c2a3e5b9ac89243c6a7543f6d1a/?vgnextold=7 
Sbce2e26140S110VgnVCM 1000004718190aRCRD&vsnextchannel= 75bce2e261405110VgnVCM1000004 
718190aRCRO 
SAVE Website: 
http://www.usds.gov/portal/site/uscis/menuftem.ebld4c2a3e5b9ac89243c6a7S43f6dla/?ygnextold=1 
721c2ecQ<:7c8110VgnVCM1000004718190aRCRD&vgnextchann�l=l721c2ecQc7c8110VgnVCM10000047 
1819QaRCRO 

CHAPTER 3: CASH MANAGEMENT 

CHAPTER 3, SECTION 1: CASH DEPOSITORY· 

Funds advanced under·OGA Programs must be deposited as follows: 

• A separate notHnterest-bearlnc bank account must be established for each OneGeorgla award.
• No other funds should be deposited into this account.
• The separate bank account must be established In a financial Institution covered by FDIC with

any balance exceeding the FDIC covered amounts collaterally secured.
• Funds will be transferred to this cash account based on Information provided by the Recipient

from the Vendor Management Bank Account Form. The voided check serves as a conflrmat_lon
of the transit Information for the banking Institution along with the bank account number
established to receive OneGeorgla funds.

CHAPTER 3, SECTION 2: PRIOR TO DRAWDOWN OF FUNDS 

Recipient's administrative responslbllftles_ be'fore submitting drawdown requests: 

• All award documents must be properly exearted and returned to the OneGeorgla Authority
prior to the Recipient's lf'!lt�I drawdown of funds request.

• In addition to the award documents, Recipient must complete and return to OGA the followlng
financial/administrative a�unt set-up forms.

I. Authorized Signature Card f9r Drawdown of Funds
IL Authorization Agreement for Automatic Deposits 
Ill. Agreement to Provide Independent Audit Report 
Iv. Voided check from the bank account established to receive OGA funds 

• Any Special Conditions restricting drawdown of funds must have been satisfied by the Recipient
and a project Adjustment Notice Issued.

1l 

(Rev. 12/2013) 

59



CHAPTER 3, SECTION 3: DRA WDOWN REQUESTS-WHAT TO SUBMIT 

Upon completion and return of award documents, administrative set-up forms and clearance of 
special conditions, Recipient may submit to OGA a Request for Orawdown of Funds whenever 
necessary, but not more frequently than weekly. 

Each drawdown request must be accompanied by cost documentation supporting the request 
for funds. Examples of cost documentation include: 

• Closing statements for real estate transactions
• Purchase Orders, Contracts or Invoices for materials, equipment rental, professional services,

etc.
• Draw Requests for construction services or subcontractors
• Certified payrolls

DO NOT SUBMIT A DRAWDOWN WITHOUT COST DOCUMENTATION 

IMPORTANT NOTE: 

Atl cost documentation submitted must be identified with the Project name, award number, 
date and description of services rendered or materials provided. It Is suggested that all cost 
documentation be reviewed and initialed as approved by the Recipient prior to submission to 
the OneGeorgia Authority for processing. 

CHAPTER 3, SECTION 4: TIMING THE DRAWDOWN REQUEST 

• Recipient should understand that once submitted a drawdown request may take up to ten (10)
working days depending on the level of review necessary. (Detailed cost documentation for
construction projects, closing statements Involving real estate transactions may require more
review time.)

• Contact person listed on the draw request will receive a fax from OGA to confirm draw request
approval and expected date of funds transfer to local bank.

• Funds can generally be wired via ACH transfer to the Recipient's bank within two to three days
after approval of draw request

• The Recipient must minimize the time elapsing between the receipt of funds and their
disbursement. A period of ten (10) working days or less shall be considered acceptable for any
sum of over $5,000.

• It is the Recipient's responsibility to anticipate cash needs and to submit draw requests to allow
sufficient time for the receipt of funds.

IMPORTANT NOTE: 

When a Recipient demonstrates an inability to establish procedures to minimize the time 
elapsing between cash advances and disbursements, cannot adhere to laws, regulations or 
special conditions, engages in the improper award and administration of contracts or is unable 
to submit reliable and/or timely reports, the OneGeorgla Authority may terminate advance 

12 
(Rev. 12/2013) 

60



financing and/or require operation of the program oh a reimbursement basis only, as well as 
take addltlonal actions as described elsewhere In these procedures. 

CHAPTER 3, SECTION 5: INSTRUCI10NS FOR PREPARING DRAWDOWN REQUESTS 

Th_e original and one copy of the Request for Drawdown.of Funds form must be submitted to 
OGA each time a Recipient wlsbes to drawdown funds. 

The certifylng representative must Include with each Request for Drawdown of Funds form a 
formal cover letter stating that he has reviewed the attached detalled cost documentation and 
certifies that the documents are an .eligible expense related to the OneGeorgia project so 
designated. This Information is required so that any lawyer or professional person may 
ascertain that the certifying representative did. indeed review the invoices and approve the 
draw. 

• Enter the name of the local government Award Recipient
• Enter the Award ID#
• Enter the contact name, e-mail address, telephone n"9mber and fax number of the person who

prepares the Orawdown-Request
• Enter the Orawdown' Request Number. Orawdowns should be numbered consecutively, the first

one being Number 1, the second one being Number 2, etc.
• The final drawdown should be Indicated by checking the yes box when appropriate. O,eck the

.,no• box for all other draws.
• Column A � Enter the code of each approved activity as shown on the approved Budget

Summary.
• Colu'!'n B - Enter the budgeted dollars of each approved activity as shown on the approved

Budget Summary.
• Column C- Enter all previous drawdowns received to-date by each approved activity.
• -Column D - Enter all dra�downs previously requested by each �pproved activity, but not yet

received.
• Column E - Enter all funds actually spent and disbursed by the Recipient by each approved

activity.
• Column F - Enter drawdown balance' on hand by each approv.ed activity. These amounts are

obtained by �ddlng Columns C and O and subtracting that total from Column B.
• Column G -Enter the amoont of the rurrent drawdown requested by each approved activity.
• Type th� .riam�es of ipd�d'!_als authorizpd to (#raw -..vme·rit'arid -date.
• Have lndivfduals a��brized to draw payment sign with original signatures. Signatures must be

those listed on the Authorized Signature Card for Drawdown of •Funds form.

SUBMIT ORIGINAL REQUEST WITH COVER LmER AND COST DOCUMENTATION ATTACHED 
TO: 

OneGeorgia Authority 
Georgia Department of Community Affairs 
P.O. Box 15481 
Atlanta, GA 30333 

13 
(Rev. 12/2013) 

61



CHAPTER 4: ACCOUNTING & FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

CHAPTER 4, SECTfON 1: FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 

A. General Requirements:

Recipient's financial management system must: 

o Provide accurate, current and complete disclosure of the financial activities funded by
OneGeorgla awards. OGA approved budgets reflect costs by activity code, as do the
Request for Drawdown of Funds forms and the Project Report forms. Therefore,
financial records should be established and maintained In such a manner as to facllltate
the reporting and monitoring of expenditures and obligations by activity code.

o Maintain accounting records that clearly and adequately identify the source and
application of all funds committed to OGA supported activities. Local contributions to
the program and income applied to the program should also be dearly Identified.

o Maintain sound internal accounting controls, effective control over and accountability

for all funds, property and other assets, safeguarding these assets and Insuring that they
are used solely for authorized purposes.

o Provide comparison of actual expenditures to budgeted expenditures.
o Include procedures to minimize the time elapsing between the drawdown of funds from

OGA and the disbursement of those funds by the Recipients. A period of ten working
days or less shall be considered acceptable.

o Provide for audits made by quaDfted and independent audit firms of management
systems and Internal control procedures that have been establlshed.

o Provide for source documents · (appropriation ordinances, purchase orders, Invoices,
journal vouchers, cash receipts, bank deposit receipts, etc.) that support all financial
transactions relating to OGA activities. These should be flied and maintained.

o Ensure that costs Incurred In OGA activities are reasonable and allowable only under the
following conditions:

• The award has been properly accepted as described in Chapter 1, Section 1 of

these procedures.
• Costs are incurred on or after the date of the Award by OGA (unless pre

agreement cost approval is requested and approved by OGA.)
• Costs for projects or activities are Incurred only after all necessary conditions

and required reviews have been completed and satisfied.
• Costs are accounted for In accordance with seneralty accepted accounting

principles and are not prohibited by Federal, State or locat laws.
• Costs are authorized in the award made by OGA.
• Costs are incurred for actMtles eligible under the applicable OGA Program.

In order to meet these requirements, the following procedures are suggested. 

B. Suggested Accounting Procedures, Records and Ffflng Format

The accounting issues that �c recipient should address to comply with the state 
requirements arc: 

14 

(Rev. 12/2013} 

62



o Or:ganlzation of.the accounting system
o Fund stru�ure and double entry bQOkkeeping
o Uniform Chart of Accounts
o Coding the chart of accounts, al'.ld
o Accounting records and flies

Organization of the Accounting System 

One. lndMdual should be designated to oversee the financial transactions related to OGA 
program funding. This Individual, serving as fiscal coordinator, should approve. all purchase 
documents, contract invoices, payroll actions, etc., that affect OGA funds; howe�er, this person 
should not perform the disbursing and recording functions which are typically aciomplished by 
the accounting department. 

The OGA accounting system should be designed to maximize internal control. The concept of 
Internal control refers to policies and procedures of the jurisdiction designed primarily to 
safeguard assets such as cash, Inventory and equipment. 

·The person designated as fiscal coordinator might be a mem�r of the f_inance or accounting
department or a member of the mayor's or c!ty ma!'lager's staff. Where a community
development department has been established, a fiscal coordinator may be d�lg(lated within
the department to perform these duties.

Fund Structure and Double Entry Bookkeeping

� separate special revenue fund must be establfshed In conformance with the Uniform .Chart of
Accounts (H:B. 491) requirements.

Records must also be available to allow for confirmation of required award match amounts and
to $Upport leverage amounts.

A corpplete set of general ledger and s�bsJdiary accounts should be maintained for the fund.
Accounting wlth'I� this fund should -be ·condµcted on the �ouble entry basis where Debit {DR)
and Credit (CR) balances are maintained for each general ledger account and the sum of all
debits eqµals the $Um of all credits.

Assistance Is available from OGA as needed to help recipients comply with these requirements.

Uniform Chart of Accounts

In 1997, the Georgia General Assembly passed the Local Government Uniform Chart of
Accounts and Reporting Act (H.B. 491.) Beginning In fiscal year ending· In 2001, local
governments must adopt and use a state published uniform chart In their accounting records;
audited _financial statements, Including Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports (CAFRs), and
reports to state agencies.

1S 

(Rev.12/2013) 

63



All transactions must be classified in conformity with the fund, balance sheet, revenue and 
expenditure classification descriptions contained in the state publication: Uniform Chart of 
Accounts for Local Governments in Georgia. 

Accounting Records and Suggested Flies 

The first step in the accounting process is to establish the accounting records and files that 
should be maintained. These may include the folJowing: 

o Open Purchase Orders File
o Open Contracts File
o Pending Payments File
o Pending Receipts File
o cash Receipts Register
o cash Disbursements Register
o General Journal
o General Ledger
o Fixed Assets Ledger
o cash Control Ledger
o Expenditure Summary Report
o Receivable and Payable Subsidiary Ledgers, and
o Permanent Flies

In estabffshlng the accounting records, the following steps are suggested: 

.... 

Establish the Open Purchase Orders File, which contains purchase orders that have been Issued 
but not titled. These unfilled purchase orders should be filed In sequence according to purchase 
order number. 

o Establish the Open Contracts File with a sectJon for each open contract. Contract summary
forms, a copy of the contract, contract Invoices and related correspondence should be flied ln
each section.

o Establish the Pending Payments File, which contains all invoices and payment vouchers that
have been approved for payment. The supporting documentation should be filed by due date
with periodic reviews of the file to ensure timely payment.

o Establish the Pending Receipts File, which contains documents to Identify payments expected to
be received. When the �mounts are received, supporting documentation should be attached to
the Invoice or other form, the transaction should be recorded on the cash Control ledger and
posted to the Receivables Subsidiary Ledger; and the funds should be deposited on a timely
basis.

o Establish the cash Receipts Register. This register should be maintained to document all cash
receipts.

o Establish the Cash Disbursements Register. This register should be maintained to document cash
disbursements.

o General Journal Entries are prepared to record accounting transactions that do not Involve cash
receipts or disbursements; Journal entries should be pr�pared for adjustments and special
actions such as OGA budget, year-end accruals, etc:.

16 

(Rev. 12/2013) 

64



o · Establish a General Ledger account for each general ledger account In the chart of accounts.
o Establish , Fixed Asset le(fger. This ledger should be maintained so as to record and control all

fixed assets acqlili'ed In whol� or '1n·part. usin
g 

OGA funl;fs. I 

o Establls� a cash Control Ledger. Enter the fiscal year at the top. A Separate cash Control Ledger
should be maintained for each fiscal year. 

o Establish '"' Expenditure Summary Report page for e,ch buc;lget llnf;! Item.
o Establish a Receivable and Payable Subsidiary Ledger If advances or loans are mad� or goods

and services are purchased on account. A separate record should be established for each person
who has received a loan ·pr advance and for each Individual ·vendor to whom �!'ley Is owed.

o Establish the Permanent Ales, which should parallel the organization of the aforementioned
accounting records, flies and reports.

SAMPLE FILING FORMAT

o Content

o Application FIie:
• Copy of Application
• Correspondence regarding application

o Award File:
• Award State""nt .
• Spec;lal �ndltlons
• Revisions
• Co�p��dence
• Adjustment Notices

o Drawdown Information:
• A�hprl�at�n Agreement for Automatic Deposits
• Autho'1�� Signature card for Drawdown of Fuhds
• Cer.tJfl�{!on .
• l\e<ip� for Drawdown of Funds

o Reports:
• Annual Program t'ncome �eport
• Project Report Form
• otht!r regulred reports

o Financial Exp!ndkµ_re �me(lt�lom
• Invoices, Time Sheets, Contract Draws, Subcontract Draws, etc.
• Approved �yment forms

0 Financial Stat,mepti& S"pf>C?i1!ng i>ocunie11tatlon: 
• Monthly bank state'll(!Rts and bank recondllatlons
• Monthly f inancial statements
• dose out di>cuments

o. Audit Records: . • . 
• lngepenp�nt Audit Report
• Adjusting]closlng audit ,ntries

17 

(Rev.12/2013) 

65



CHAPTER 4-, SECTION 2: AUDIT REQUIREMENTS 

Recipients must contract for annual independent audits of their financial operations including 
compliance with local and state laws and regulations. 

This audit should also include a Project Cost Schedule and a Source and Application of Funds 
Schedule. 

A copy of all audit reports shall be provided by the Recipient to OGA no later than 30 days after 
issuance of the reports and no Jater than one year after the end of the audit period. 

A. Audits must include an examination of internal control systems established to ensure
compliance with laws and regulations affecting the expenditure of OGA funds, financial
transactions, accounts and financial statements and reports of Recipient organizations. These
examinations are to determine whether:

o There Is effective control over and proper accounting for revenues, expenditures, assets
and liabilities.

o The financial statements are presented fairly In accordance with Generally Accepted
Governmental Accounting Principles.

o The reports to OGA and claims for advances contain accurate and reliable financial data
and are presented In accordance with the terms of applicable agreements.

o OGA funds are being expended In accordance with the terms of the award and those
provisions of State law or OGA regulations that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

B. In order to accomplish the purposes set forth above, a representative number of charges to the

OGA award shall be tested. The test shall be representative of all cost categories that materially
affect the award. The test Is to determine whether the charges:

o Are necessary and reasonable for the proper administration of the program.

o Conform to any limitations or exclusions of the OGA award Itself.

o Were given consistent accounting treatment and applied uniformly to both OGA
assisted and other activities of the Recipient.

o Were net of applicable credits.

o Did not Include costs properly chargeable to other programs.

o Were properly recorded (i.e., correct amount and date) and supported by source
documentation.

o Were approved in advance if subject to prior approval

o Were Incurred In accordance with competitive purchasing procedures, if applicable.
o Were allocated equitably to benefiting activities.

C. Audits should be made annually. If an acceptabte annual audit Is completed within a short

period of time prior to dose out of an OGA program, OneGeorgia will request payment
documentation of the unaudited funds and then formally close the award.

D. If the auditor becomes aware of Irregularities In the Recipient organization,. the auditor shall
promptly notify OGA and Recipient management officials above the level of Involvement.
Irregularities Include such matters as conflicts of lnt�rest, falsification of records and reports and
misappropriation of funds or other assets.

E. The annual audited financial statements shall Include:

18 
(Rev.12/2013) 

66



o Financial statements, Including the schedule of expenditures of awards, Including
footnotes, of the Recipient organization.

o The:.auditor's 'report-on-th'fflnarictai'statem�, which should:
• l(fentlfy tfte state¥"ents examined and the· period covell!d.
• State ·that the ·audit was •done In a�ordance with the �enerally Accepted

Gov�mment Auditing Standa�s.
• Express an opinion as to whether th� financial statements of the OneGeorgla

Authority progr:am
1
are presented fairly In all material respects In conformity

with the stated accounting policies.
• Report on Internal control related to the program, which shall describe the

scope of testing oflnt�mal .i;:ol'ri.rol and \he results of the test
• Report on compliance which Includes an oplnl�n as to whether the audit Is In

compliance with laws, �ulation.s and the provisions of contracts or award
agreements whtch .could have-a dlrect-a,nd material effect on the program.

• Include a schedule of ffn.dlnp and· questJof!ed costs for the program.
• State the doliar Thresholct used to (flstlngulsh between Type A and B programs.
• Determine whether the au.dtt-:ql}Jl�

,.
as a low-risk a.l,ldlt. 

F. The auditor'$ reports on compliance and lri�er'nal confrol sh_ou(d:
o Include comments on· weaknesses or nonj:Ompllance with the systems of Internal

control, separately ldenttfying,n)aterfal:YiJ�.� .•
o Report the scope of testing of lntejnal CQnt�J iind the results of the tests, and where

applicable, a separate schedule of flndlnis and qu�loned cost.
o Include statement that the audit Is In c;ompi�nce with laws� regulations and the

provlslbns of contra� or aw�rd agreement thjlt could have a direct and material effect
on each major pr-0gl'atn a�r�llng to State laws, and where applicable, a separate
schedule of findings and questioned cost.

o Provide a summary schedule of prior ·audit findings that report the status of all audit
fln�fngs lncl�ded In the prior au.�lt's _�cht!df1'1! of �ndlngs and q�estloned costs relative
to F�eral awards. the surnrpary sttiedule shall ,also Include audit findings reported In
the prior audit's summary schedule' "at prior audit findings except audit findings llsted as
C9rrect�d- W.h�n a\fdlt flndll)SS .• :\vere fu!lv w,rected, the S�l'Jlmary schedule need only
I� th, •�dlt frn�lngs ahd'ftatetbat correctlvif act.Ion was take_n 91",

0 A �ateri)en,t on plan,nkd aettons taken by. R�l,plent.
o A Source ind Appllt.atlon of·Funcfj sc�eduJe.'.ind a Project Cost schedule for all OGA

funds. the appropriate award·nu mbers shou� also be shown.
o Comm;�� . on !he a�ct.1r:c9� -a� complet�mess of flna_nd_al reports and dalms for

advances or relmbuiseinent toOGA:·
o Comments on corrective action taken or planned by the Recipient.

G. Work papers and reports must be retained for a minimum of three years from the date of the
audit report, unless the auditor Is notified In writing by OGA of the need to extend the retention
period. The audit work papers must be made available upon request of OGA or Its deslgnees.

H. When an audit discloses slinlficant flndlnss, the· Recipient will be called upon by OGA to take
corrective action. Depending upon the nature "of the Inadequacies, drawdown of funds, final
dose out or subsequent award of an OGA program may be delayed or denied untll corrective
action has been taken. · · 

19 
(Rev. 12/2013) 

67



CHAPTER 4, SECTION 3: PROCUREMENT STANDARDS 

The Recipient is the responsible authority under its contracts and without recourse to 

OGA regarding the settlement and satisfaction of all contractual and administrative 

Issues arising out of procurements entered into In connection with any OneGeorgia 

program. Matters concerning violation of law are to be referred to such local or state 

authority as may have proper jurisdiction. However, Recipients are encouraged to 

contact OGA for assistance in any procurement matter. 

A. Recipients may use their own procurement regulations that reflect applicable State and local
laws, rules and regulations If all procurements made with OGA funds meet the following
standards:

o The Recipient must maintain written codes or -standards of conduct to govern the
performance of Its officers, employees or agents In contracting with and expending OGA
funds. Recipient's officers, employees or agents shall neither solicit nor accept
gratuities, favors or anything of monetary value from contractors or potential
contractors. No employee, official or agent of the Recipient can participate in selection
or In the award of administration of a contract supported by OGA funds if a conflict of
interest, real or apparent, would be Involved. Such conflict would arise when:

• The employee, officer or agent
• Any member of the Immediate family
• His or her partner, or
• Any organization which employs, or is about to employ, any of the above, has a

financial or other Interest in the firm selected for award.
o Recipients may set minimum rules where the financial Interest ls not substantial or the

gift is an unsolicited Item of no,mlnal Intrinsic value.
o To the extent permissible by State or local law, rules or regulations, the Recipient's

standards must provide for penalties, sanctions or other disciplinary actions to be
applied for viofatlons of such standards by either the Recipient's officers; employees, or
agents or by contractors or their agents.

o Alf Procurement transactions entered Into by the Recipient regardless of whether
negotiated or advertised and without regard to dollar value shall be conducted In a
manner so as to provide maximum open and free competltlon. The Recipient must be
alert to organizational conflicts of Interest or non-competitive practices among
contractors that may restrict or eliminate competition or otherwise restrain trade and
conform to Sate Law (O.C.G.A. § 36-91�1 et seq.) as applicable.

o Examples of what ls considered to be restrictive of competition Include, but are not
limited to:

• Placing unreasonable requirements on firms In order for them to qualify to do
business;

• Non-competitive practices between firms;
• Organizational conflicts of Interest; an�
• Unnecessary experle�ce and bonding requirements.

o Recipients must have wrtf;ten selection procedures that provide, as a minimum, the
following procedural requirements:

• Incorporate a clear and accurate description of the technical re_qulrements for
the material, product, or service to be procured. Such description must not, in

20 
(Rev.12/2013) 

68



competitive procurements, contain features that unduly restrict competition. 
The description may Include a statement of Jhe qualitative nature of the 
material, product or service to be procured and, when necessary, set forth 
minimum essential characteristics and standards to which It must conform to be 
satisfactory. Detailed product specifications should be avoided If at all possible. 
When It is Impractical or uneconomical to make a clear and accurate description 
of the technical requlrerpents, a "brand name or equal" description .may be used 
as a means to define the performance or other Important requirements of 
procurement. The specific features of the named brand that must be met by 
offerors must be clearly stated. 

• Clearly set forth aU requlrernents which offerors must fulfill and all other factors
to be used In evaluating bids (?r prop0$als.

• Awards shall be made only to responsible contractors who possess the potential
ability to perform successfully under the terms and conditions of a proposed
procurement. Consideration must be given to such matters as contractor
_Integrity, compliance with public. policy, - record of past performance, and
flnanclal and technical resources.

• Proposed �rocuAim�nt actlo!'� must. be revlewect by Recipient officials to avoid
purchasl1]8 unnecessc,ry or d�pllcative Items. Where approp_rlate, an analysis
m�st be �dt! of le�.,-.and purchase ·att�matw'es to determine which would be
the most etonORflCc111° practl?I procu�ment. Co_nslderatlon should be slven to
consolidated or brea�lng oc,t·to O,:,taln a more economical purchase. To foster
greater economy and efficiency, -�edplents a� encouraged to enter Into State
and focal intel'!ov.emmental�agreerpents for procurement or use of common
goals and services.

• R�.PJ�nts mu� perfprm so,ne type pf cost or price analysis concerning every
�ren,ent actk>n l�udlng �tract modifications and must only permit
allowable �$ ;o �e fry�lyde�.

• Recipients- must maintain records sufficient to detafl the significant history of a
procurement. These records musi lncf\lde, but are not necessarily limited to,
lnfoffl)ati�g pe[tlQent to rational♦. for the method of procurement, selection of
contract type, contractor' selection or rejection,. and the basis for the cost or
prlce.

• Reqplents mus.t n}al�in a co'lt� administration system that ensures that
contra_ctors perform ,Jn accordance with the terms, conditions, and
specfficatkK1s of t�lr contracts or P..C:1rchase order.

B. Methods of ProcuNHnent

There are four methods of procurement that can be used by Recipients, If authorized by
locally adopted sta�dard�:

o Small purchase procedures can be used· for procurements under $100,000 and require
that price or rate quotations be obtained from ,an adequate number of qualified
sources. Note that this method Is not appropriate for procurement of administrative or
professional-services.

o Competitive sealed bids (fortnal.advertislng)·where sealed bids are publldy solicited and
a firm-fixed-price cont�ct (lump-sum or unit price) Is awarded to the responsible bidder

21 
(Rev. 12/2013) 

69



whose bid, conforming to all the material terms and conditions of the invitation for bids, 
Is lower In price. 

In order for formal advertising to be feasible, appropriate conditions must be present, 
Including, as a minimum the following: 

• A complete, adequate and realistic specification or purchase description is
available.

• Two or more responsible suppliers are willing and able to compete effectively
for the awardee1s business.

• The procurement lends itself to a firm-fixed-price contract, and selection of the
successful bidder can appropriately be made principally based on price.

If formal advertising ls used for procurement under an award, the following 
requirements apply: 

• Allow sufficient time (generally 30 days) prior to the date set for opening of
bids, bids -must be solicited from an adequate number of known suppliers. In
addition, the Invitation must be publicly advertised.

• The invitation for bids, including specifications and pertinent attachments, must
clearly define the items or services needed In order for bidders to properly
respond to the invitation.

• All bids must be opened publicly at the time and place stated In the Invitation
for bids.

• A firm-fixed-price contract award must be made by written notice to that
responsible bidder whose bid, conforming to the invitation for bids, Is lowest.
Where specified in the bidding documents, factors such as discounts,
transportation costs and life cycle costs must be considered In determining
which bid Is lowest.

• . Any or all bids may be rejected when there are sound documented business
reasons that ·to do so would be in the best Interest of the program.

o Competitive negotiation is a method of procurement where proposals are requested
from a number of sources and the Request for Proposal (RFP) or Request for
Qualifications (RFQ) ls publicized. Negotiations must be conducted with more than one
of the sources submitting offers, and either a fixed-price or cost-reimbursable type
contract Is awarded, as appropriate. Recipients should perform a systematic analysis of
each contract item or task to assure adequate service and to offer reasonable
opportunities for cost reductions. Competitive negotiation may be used If conditions are
not appropriate for the use of formal advertising. If competitive negotiation Is used for
procurement under an award, the following requirements apply:

• Proposals must be solicited from an a.dequate number of qualified sources to
permit reasonable competition oonslstent with the nature and requirements of
the procurement. The Request for Proposals must be publicized and reasonable
requests by other sources to compete must be t,onored to the maximum extent
practicable. 11Solldtatlon11 requests by the Recipient must be spedflcaUy
addressed to a list of more than one potential proposer Identified by the
Oty/County. To 11publiclze11 the RFP, the Recipient must also offer the RFP

22 
(Rev. 12/2013) 

70



through publication In a newspaper with adequate clrculatlon or publication by 
other means such that reasonable exposure to potential proposers can be 
�ct,d. . . ' 

• ' I 1, 

• The Request for Proposal ·must· Identify all slgnfficant evaluation factors,
Including price or cost where required and theJr relative Importance.

• The Recipient must have mechanisms for technical evaluation of proposals
received, for determinations of responsible offerors for the purpose of written
or oral discussions, and for sefectlon for contract award.

• Award may ·be made to the responsible �ror whose proposal will be most
advantageous to the procuring palfy, price and other factors considered.
Unsuccessful offerors should be notified promptly.

• Retlple_o� may use competitive negotiation procedures for procurement of
Architectural/ Engineering profe$SIO!'Jcll services, whereby competitors'
qualifications are evaluated and the most quallfled competitor Is selected,
subject to negotiation of fair and reasonable,com�l)Satlon.

• ff·;,c;om�ltlve negotiation" Is not successful, then the Recipient must receive
"sole source" approval from OGA before contracting.

o Non-competitive or •sole source• procurement requires prior OGA approval and may be
used when:

• the Item or service Is avallable from only one source
• urgent public need will not allow for the delay caused by advertising
• although a number af bids were sollclted, only one respons� was received.

All contracts must be rnade with responsible contractors who possess the potential 
ability to perform successfully under the terms and conditions of a proposed 
procurement. Conslderatton may be given to such matters as contfc!..ctor Integrity, 
record of past performance,. financial and other technical res·ources, or accessibility to 
other necessary resources. 

Procurement records or files shall provide at least the following pertinent information: 
�ustlfication for the. use. of negotlflticm inst,ad of ;.dvertlslhg, cc;mtractor selection, and 
the-l;u�sls for the cost or price negotiated. 

A system for contract administration must be maintained by the Recipient to assure 
contractor conformance with terms, conditio_ns, and specifications of the contract or 
order, and to assure adequate and timely follow�up of all purchases. 

C. CONTRACT REQUIREMENTS

The Reclpi�nt must include, In addltton to the provisions needed to define a sound and 
complete agreement, the following provisions -fn all contracts: 

o Contracts other than small purchases mu� contain such contractual provisions or
condlttons which wUI allow ior admlrilstratlve, contractual or legal remedies In Instances
where contractors violate or breach contract tenns, and provide for appropriate
sanctions and penalties.

23 
(Rev. 12/2013) 

71



o All contracts in excess of $10,000 must contain provisions for terminations "for
convenienceN by Recipient, including when and how termination may occur and the
basis for settlement. In addition, an contracts must describe conditions under which the
contract may be terminated for default as well as conditions where the contract may be
terminated because of circumstances beyond the control of the contractor.

CHAPTER 4, SECTION 4: BONDJNG AND INSURANCE 

The minimum Bonding and Insurance requirements under state law are applicable to 
public works contracts valued over $40,000 and require: 

• A performance bond from contractors executed in connection with each contract.
• A payment bond on the part of the contractor for 100% of the contract price.
• All bonds shall be obtained from companies holding certificates of authority as acceptable

sureties under state requirements.
• In addition, OGA requires that Recipients require adequate contractor's liability Insurance from

all contractors. A minimum coverage of $25,000 property and $50,000 bodily Injury coverage
should be required.

CHAPTER 5: PROJECT ADMINISTRATION 

CHAPTER 5, SECTION 1: MONITORING PROJECT PERFORMANCE AND COMPLIANCE 

A. Recipients must constantly monitor performance to ensure that time schedules are being met,
projected milestones are being accomplished, and other performance goals are being achieved
In accordance with the approved application.

8. All activities must be conducted In compliance with a host of state requirements.
C. Problems, delays, or adverse conditions that will affect the Reclplenfs ability to meet Its

program objectives or Its time schedules should be reported to OGA.
D. The Authority will,. at appropriate times during program activi

t

ies, review Recipient's records to
ensure that all applicable state requirements are being met. The Authority's emphasis will be on
preventing and correcting problems before they develop Into serious obstacles to program
Implementation. The completion and submission of a Project Report will be required semi
annually by the recipient.

E. Instructions to complete Project Report Form
o Section I: General Information

• local Government Award Recipient Name: The legal name of the OneGeorgla
award recipient.

• Award 10 #: Award number shown on the OneGeorgla award documents.
• Sub-recipient Name: If applicable, the name of the company or organization

that this project benefits.
• Contact Person: The name of the person who Is responsible for the day-to-day

administration of the OneGeorgia award.
• Telephone: The phone number:af the contact person.
• Email: The email address of the contact person.

24 
(Rev. 12/2013) 

. -72



• Project Period: The date the OneGeorgla a\¥ard · was made and the expiration
date. if the project was extended, then use the most current expiration date.

o Section ui Report Type J'1d,Exten�toh · ,,,1,
· • Seml•Annµal: To be submitted to OneGeorgla by June 30 and December 31 of

each-�ar. . 
I ' • • ' • Progt�: Only required If the recipient ·requests the drawdown of more than 

90'6 of the award AND has not yet submitted Its first scheduled semi-annual 
report. 

• Anal: Req1.1tred at'tlle conclusion of entire proJ�ct.
• ts a project extension needed?: Check either-yes or no. If yes, provide the

number Qt'J!l,onthi (inaxlnfuf'l· of.six 'months) needed starting from t�e existing
project's expiration date. Provide- Justlflcadon' for the· ·extension request In
�ctlon Ill and attach any necessary documentation (e.g., a letti!r from the
prQJeq: engineer explalhlng'tfie need for an exferislon)

o Section Ill: ProjecttJpdate/Narratlve
• Use this space to describe the status of your project plus any changes since your

most recent OneGeorgla ·report lncludlhg status of construction, land
acquisition, M&E purchase and Installation, hiring, production, private and
public Investment, etc. For all reports, please provide a detailed narrative
,desGfibln�J�a��pl�meht, Attach ildciltlonahheets If necessary.

o Section JV:.source, Amount and Vse... .. .. f 

• Complete �lf'Jl IV ol)ly,iftt,ls Is a floaf re�
• Source: The na�e.of th� �pr� o��nds (t",g., OneGtorgla, Local, Private, u.s.

Economic Development Admlnlstratk>n,-etc.l
• Amount: The dollar amo.unt each 11source11 Is providing fort-he project.
• · Use: The activtty(les) e�r.b 'SQur,t.e 1$.��fng. (e.g., WJter,. sewer, road, etc.)

o Section V: Direct and/or Indirect IJ�· t9;ijat�
• Proposed categoryto be completed from app11catlon as applicable
• Jobs Retained Actual: The n�mber of Jobs retained as a direct result of this• pr<>Ject as of the.date of th" �port.
• Jobs•Cf8'!ed_ "�'!"I: Tfle o�m�r .�-Jobs �reated as a direct result of this project

as of the date ofdiis report.
• Public Funds Invested Act�al: (Not Including OneGeorgla Funds)Total amount of

public funds (e.g., federal, state and local} used In this project as of the date of
this report.

• Private Fu.nds Inv�� Acfu�: The to�I amount of private funds used In this
project as oft��· dai, of t,ils-rep<Jrt. :

• BJUl!!flclar.les and/or Servlc:es _Actual; if appllcable, briefly Identify the number of
beneflr;!arles (e.g., studenJs erirolled, workers trained, (!tc.) and/or the services
provided by the,OneGeq;gla fiincte� progra_m.

• Public Infrastructure Actual: If applicable, briefly describe the public
Infrastructure being provided by this project.

o Section vi: Signature
• Type Name of the Certifying Representative, that official's title and date
• Orjgl_nal signature of Certifying Represent•tlve and date project �port form

signed

25 
(Rev. 12/2013) 

73



CHAPTER S, SECTION 2.: IMPLEMENTATlON TlMEFRAMES 

A. Completion of program activities within the tlmeframes established in the approved application
ls extremely Important.

B. If program activities are signtflcantly behind schedule and It appears that Recipient is unable to

achieve program objectives, OGA may choose to exercise Its right to recapture all unobligated
funds after eighteen (18) months of award or to take other sanctions described In these
procedures.

C. However, if for reasons beyond the control of Recipient It appears that an extension beyond the
approved award period, as shown on the Statement of Award, will be necessary, a written
request for extension should be sent to OGA. A maximum of 6 months' extension is allowed.

O. The extension request should outline the reasons for delay and specify the projected completion
date.

E. All approvals of extensions will be made in the form of an Adjustment Notice from OGA. The
Recipient will receive an executed Adjustment notice as conflnnation.

CHAPTERS, SECTION 3: PUBLIC RECORDS 

A. Location of Program Records:
B. �hough Recipients may designate the location of program records, OGA must be officially

informed of their location If different from the Recipient's nonnal place of business.
C. In order to ensure citizen access to program records and if the location of the records is

different from the Recipient's nonnal place of business, the following minimum information
must be on file in a des1Snated place within the locality and available for public inspection:

o Application
o Award documents Including special/general conditions and budget
o Standard performance/financial reports
o Other pertinent Information deemed appropriate by the Recipient, such as engineering

pfans
o The environmental review record.

D. Publlc access to award records shalt not be restricted unless the Recipient can demonstrate
exception from disclosure under the Georgia Open Records Act (Trtle 50, Chapter 1B, Article 4,
Georgia Code.)

CHAPTER S, SECTION 4: RETENTION OF RECORDS 

Financial records, supporting documentation for alt transactions required by law, 
whether financial or programmatic, and all other records pertinent to a OGA program 
must be kept for 3 years from the date of Issuance or notification by OGA that close out 
procedures are complete, except that: 

A. lf any litigation, claim or audit is started before the expiration of the 3 year period, the records
must be kept until all litigation, claims or audit findings Involving the records have been
resolved.

B. Records for nonexpendable property must be kept for 3 years after final disposition of the
property.

26 

(Rev.12/2013) 

74



CHAPTER 5, SECTION 5: PROGRAM AMENDMENTS, BUDGET REVISIONS, OTHER 
ADJUSTMENTS 

Recipients must request a program amendment and receive prior approval from OGA in the 
following instances: 

A. If the addition of.a new activity or deletion of an approved activity Is proposed.
B. If a decrease In excess of l°" In the scope of an approved activity Is proP.osed.
C. If  a budget revision Is proposed that will result In a transfer between approved activities or In a

change In any activity's allocation of an accumulative amount In excess of 1°'6 of the award.

A request for program �endment must pr�,vide suffici�t narrative information to adequately 
explain and justify the proposed amendment. A revised b�dg� reflecting the proposed changes 
should be submitted, if applicable. After review of the proposed c�ges OGA shall inform the 
Recipient of approvaJ by using an Adjustment Notice. (All forms should reflect all award funds, 
breakdown of funds and beneficiaries, rather than that subject only to the amendment request.) 

CHAPTER 5, SECTION 6: CONFLICT OF INTEREST PROQIBITION 

A. Conflicts prohibited. No persons described below who exercise or have exercised any functions
or responslbllltles with respect to activities associated with OGA funds or who are In a position
to partldpate In a decision making process or gain Inside lnfonnatlon with regard to 'these
activities, may obtain a flna�cial interest or benefit from an OGA•asslsted activity, or have an
interest In any contract, s�bc:9ntract or agreement with re�pect thereto, or In the proceeds
there under, either for themselves or those with whom they have family or business ties, during
their tenure or for one year thereafter.

' 

B. Penons Covered. The confllct.of•lnterest provisions described In paragraph A above apply to
any �rson wh9 is an emplo�, .ag�nt, CO'}�ltant, officer, or elected official, or appointed
offlclal of the state, or of a unft of.1ene�l local govt!mmen't, or of any designated public
agencies, or sub-recipients which are receiving or adminlsterlnt OGA funds.

C. Definition of Famlly or Business Ties. OGA defines the' meaning of the term "family or business
ties" as foUows:

o Family: "A group of people rel�ed by ancestry or maniase; relatives."
o BusJness: "The buvt'!S.& selling of �m9dlt1eS a.nd services; commerce, trade."
o Ties: "Something that con�cts, bin• or joins; bond; link."

O. Exceptlqns: UJ>911 wrttt,n, �!,I.est, Q.G.A Jl}�Y g��! �•f�.�ptlo_n to the provisions of paragraph A
above, on a cas�se basis, before staie fu6jli lire expincled. Exceptions can only be
gnnted when OGA determines that the exception wlfl serve to further the purpos.es of a
OneGeorgla Program and the effective and effldent administration of the prasram or project.
To seek an exception, 1 written request for an exception must be submitted by the unit of local
government to OGAwhlch:

o Fully discloses the conflict or potential conflict of Interest prior to the unit of
gover11ment undertaking any action which results or may result In a conflict of Interest,
real19r apparent; and

o Describes how the conflict of Interest �s publldy disclosed; and
o lndudes a written opinion of the local government's attorney that the Interest for which

the exception Is sought would not v iolate state or local law.

27 
(Rev.12/2013) 

75



E. Factors to be considered for exceptions: In determining whether to grant a requested exception
after the OneGeorgla Recipient has satisfactorily met the requirements of the paragraph above,

OGA will consider the cumulative effect of the following factors, where applicable:
o Whether the exception would provide a significant cost benefit or an essential degree of

expertise to the program or project that would otherwise not be available; Whether the

person affected is a member of a group Intended to be the beneficiary of the assisted

activity, and the exception will permit such person to receive generally the same
Interests or benefits as are be•ng made available or provide to the group or class;

o Whether the affected person has withdrawn from his or her function or responslbllitles,
or the decision making process with respect to the specific assisted activity in question;

o Whether the interest or benefit was present before the affected person was in a

position as described In paragraph (B) above;

o Whether undue hardship will result either to the participating jurisdiction or the person
affected when weighed against the publk Interest served by avoiding the prohibited

conflict; and

o Any other relevant considerations presented to OGA.

NOTE: If there are any questions regarding who may or may not be covered under the Conflict 
oflnterest provisions above, please call OGA immediately to discuss such matters prior to 
entering into contracts or disbursing money. 

CHAPTERS, SECTION 7: SANCTIONS 

Whenever OGA detennines that a unit of local government who is a Recipient of any award 
funds has failed to comply with the requirements of the applicable program, including those 
requirements listed in these procedures, OGA shaH notify the Chief Elected Official of�e unit 
of local government of the noncompliance and shall request appropriate compliance action. 

Noncompliance includes failure to implement the proposed project as described in the approved 
OGA application or violation of applicable Jaws or regulations. If, within a reasonable period, 
the local government fails or refuses to comply, then OGA may: 

• Terminate payments to the Recipient.
• Require repayment of funds Improperly spent.
• Reduce payments to the Recipient by an amount equal to the amount of such payments that

were not expended in accordance with the requirements of the Program.
• Prohibit the city or county from participation In one or more future OGA competitions.
• Umlt the avallablllty of payments to programs or activities not affected by such failure to

comply.
• Refer the matter to the Attorney General with a recommendation that an appropriate action be

Instituted, or
• Take such other actJon as may be provided by law or regulation.

Opportunity for a consultation: Prior to a reduction, withdrawal or adjustment of an award or 
other appropriate action taken pursuant to this section, the Recipient shall be notified of such 
proposed action and given an opportunity, within a reasonably prescribed time period, for an 
informal consultation. 

28 

(Rev. 12/2013) 

76



CHAPTERS, SECTION 8: CONTINUED USE OF FACILITIES 

Generally, facilities constructed with OneGeorgia program funds arc to be used for the approved 
use throughout the life of the facility. 

A. OGA should be contacted Immediately If there Is a proposed change in use.
8. Certain OneGeorgla leases may contain purchase options that will be exercised as a condition of

the award. Under these conditions, the Authority, In conjunction with the local governmental
entity, Is providing assistance to a business In the form of a long term capital lease with a

purchase option In Heu of a perpetually owned public facility.

CHAPTER S, SECTION 9: CLOSE OUT PROCEDURES 

A. Within 30 days of project completion, the Recipient should Inform OGA that the award Is ready
for dose out and advise OGA when the next annual audit Is scheduled.

B. The Recipient should complete a final drawdown request for remaining funds and submit along .

with the final project report.
C. Submit final project report.
D. OGA wlll conduct a review to ensure that any monitoring findings are resolved and that any

excess grant funds have been refunded.

E. After review and final resolution of any findings, OGA will notify the Recipient of conditional
doseout pending receipt of an acceptable audit.

F. A final closeout letter will be Issued after the final audit accounting for all funds has been Issued

and accepted by OGA.

29 

(Rev. 12/2013} 

77



 

The Putnam Development Authority reserves the right to continue the meeting to another time and place in the event the number of people in 

attendance at the meeting, including the PDA members, staff, and members of the public exceeds the legal limits.  The meeting cannot be closed to 

the public except by a majority vote of a quorum present for the meeting.  The authority can vote to go into an executive session on a legally exempt 
matter during a public meeting even if not advertised or listed on the agenda.  Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in 

order to allow them to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are 

required to contact the ADA Compliance Officer, at least three business days in advance of the meeting at 706-485-2776 to allow the County to make 

reasonable accommodations for those persons. 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 
6. Update Bank Signor List 

  

78



Bank accounts update 8/13/18

current signors remove add

PDA Checking account #76058 Joshua Daniel Eugene Smith

Terry Schwindler Charles Edward Waggoner

Lynward Lindsey Lynward Lindsey Patty Burns

PDA OneGeorgia Checking account #771236 Terry Schwindler Joshua Daniel

Lynward Lindsey Lynward Lindsey Eugene Smith

Claud McIver Claud McIver Charles Edward Waggoner

Patty Burns

PDA Safe Deposit Box #885 Eugene Smith Joshua Daniel

Lynward Lindsey Lynward Lindsey Terry Schwindler

Kay Stevens Kay Stevens Charles Edward Waggoner

Patty Burns

PDA CD account #42072 Eugene Smith Joshua Daniel

Lynward Lindsey Lynward Lindsey Terry Schwindler

Bill Wayne Sharp Bill Wayne Sharp Charles Edward Waggoner

Patty Burns

PDA CD account #24251 Eugene Smith Joshua Daniel

Charles Giffin Charles Giffin Terry Schwindler

Charles Edward Waggoner

Patty Burns

79



 

The Putnam Development Authority reserves the right to continue the meeting to another time and place in the event the number of people in 

attendance at the meeting, including the PDA members, staff, and members of the public exceeds the legal limits.  The meeting cannot be closed to 

the public except by a majority vote of a quorum present for the meeting.  The authority can vote to go into an executive session on a legally exempt 
matter during a public meeting even if not advertised or listed on the agenda.  Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in 

order to allow them to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are 

required to contact the ADA Compliance Officer, at least three business days in advance of the meeting at 706-485-2776 to allow the County to make 

reasonable accommodations for those persons. 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 
7. PDA Budget Update 

  

80



PUTNAM DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

Account Account # 2016 2017
2018

YTD 7/30/18
2018 

Budget
2019

Request
2019

Proposed NOTES

Full-time Staff 101-75201-511100 60,026 64,808 52,830 65,412 67,221 67,221 1 - 3% Raise / Includes $4,800 mileage pay

Insurance Benefits 101-75201-512101 6,355 6,869 6,300 7,564 7,686 7,686

Social Security 101-75201-512201 4,561 4,920 4,006 5,004 5,143 5,143

Retirement Contributions 101-75201-512401 5,642 8,514 9,004 9,004 9,005 9,005

Workers Compensation 101-75201-512701 217 212 207 207 210 210

Payroll Accrual 101-75201-512901 (1,644) (168) 0 220 300 300
Personnel Expenditures Total 75,157 85,155 72,346 87,411 89,565 89,565

Accounting/Auditing 101-75201-521206 5,300 3,400 200 5,500 6,500 6,500 $500 bookkeeping, $6000 external audit

Legal Services 101-75201-521203 1,300 62,601 11,575 35,000 65,600 15,600 $15,600 legal advisory work

Professional Services 101-75201-521220 18,926 15,900 0 20,000 90,000 40,000 $40,000 SIP PROJECT engineering, surveying, assessments, etc

Computer Services 101-75201-521301 1,813 2,069 2,334 2,600 3,200 3,200 $1,680 web, $201 Office, $50 A/V, $1,200 net maint, $69 software

Building & Ground Services 101-75201-522201 3,360 800 0 3,500 5,000 5,000 $5,000 CGTC building services est. 

Equipment Services 101-75201-522205 280 274 138 300 600 600 $300 SIP PROJECT copies, $300 copier maintenance & copies

Rental Expense 101-75201-522321 28 0 0 350 3,000 3,000 $2,972 SIP PROJECT rentals, $28 safe deposit box 

General Insurance 101-75201-523101 5,376 5,854 2,345 6,500 6,550 6,550 $2,300 E&O ins, $3,900 CGTC bldg  ins, $350 land ins

Telecommunications 101-75201-523201 945 1,150 779 1,200 1,320 1,320 $45/mo Desk phone, $65/mo Cell 

Postage 101-75201-523215 0 72 98 100 300 300 $200 SIP PROJECT postage, $100 postage

Advertising 101-75201-523301 720 3,250 8 4,500 19,625 4,625
GA Trend Ad $4625/3 Site Selection Ads $15000 / Fund 15K fr Hotel 
Motel Tax

Printing & Binding 101-75201-523401 9 12 0 500 1,500 1,500 $1,500 SIP PROJECT printing

Travel 101-75201-523501 6,690 2,295 3,032 6,540 7,900 7,900 $700GEDAf, $1,000IEDC, $5,500Pittcon, $550GEDAs, $150ICSC

Dues & Fees 101-75201-523601 2,857 12,749 250 2,550 2,750 2,750 $750GEDA $500IEDC $400SEDC $500GACoC $100ICSC $500MGEA

___________________________________________
PDA Chairman 8/8/2018 1 of 2

81



PUTNAM DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

Account Account # 2016 2017
2018

YTD 7/30/18
2018 

Budget
2019

Request
2019

Proposed NOTES

Education 101-75201-523701 0 1,010 1,046 2,950 1,400 1,400 $550 GEDA fall, $500 GEDA spring, $350, ICSC

Miscellaneous Services 101-75201-523920 0 18,488 0 970 75,000 55,000 $55,000 SIP PROJECT services 

Office & General Supplies 101-75201-531101 440 556 370 550 1,000 1,000 $450 SIP PROJECT general supplies, $550 office & general supplies

Building & Ground Supplies 101-75201-531110 0 (131) 0 1,500 3,000 3,000 $1,500 SIP PROJECT bldg supplies, $1,500 CGTC bldg supplies 

Electricity 101-75201-531231 472 503 591 550 700 700 $700 electric for RETP sign 

Meals For Special Events 101-75201-531301 639 1,032 1,117 1,500 3,500 3,500 $2,000 SIP PROJECT meals, $1,500 B&I meeting meals

Books & Periodicals 101-75201-531401 35 35 85 90 250 250 $250 Periodicals, Messenger, GA County Guide, etc

Small Equipment 101-75201-531601 99 1,441 849 1,500 2,500 2,500 $1,000 SIP PROJECT small equipment, $1,500 small equipment 

Capital Purchases 101-75201-542600 0 0 0 0 0 0
Operation Expenditures Total 49,289 133,360 24,816 98,750 301,195 166,195
Putnam Development Authority Total 124,446 218,515 97,162 186,161 390,760 255,760

___________________________________________
PDA Chairman 8/8/2018 2 of 2

82



 

The Putnam Development Authority reserves the right to continue the meeting to another time and place in the event the number of people in 

attendance at the meeting, including the PDA members, staff, and members of the public exceeds the legal limits.  The meeting cannot be closed to 

the public except by a majority vote of a quorum present for the meeting.  The authority can vote to go into an executive session on a legally exempt 
matter during a public meeting even if not advertised or listed on the agenda.  Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in 

order to allow them to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are 

required to contact the ADA Compliance Officer, at least three business days in advance of the meeting at 706-485-2776 to allow the County to make 

reasonable accommodations for those persons. 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 
8. SPLOST #9 Update 

  

83



SPLOST #9 list 
 
County Projects                                                                                  Estimated Costs 
Sheriff’s Office Vehicles and Building Improvements                      $1,180,000.00 
EMS Ambulances and Equipment                                                       $1,225,000.00 
Fire Department Trucks and Equipment                                            $1,775,000.00 
Public Works Heavy Duty Trucks and Equipment                             $580,000.00 
Putnam General Hospital                                                                      $1,000,000.00 
Recreation Dept Field Lighting and Building Improvements          $500,000.00 
Community Event Equipment                                                              $115,000.00 
Golf Course Building and Equipment                                                  $100,000.00 
Public Building Improvements                                                             $445,000.00 
Oconee Springs Park Improvements                                                   $100,000.00 
Roads                                                                                                        $4,406,400.00 
                         
City Projects                                                                                       Estimated Costs 
Fire Vehicles                                                                                            $22,000.00 
Fire Equipment                                                                                       $214,000.00 
Gas Line Expansion                                                                                $1,000,000.00 
Gas Service Computer Equipment                                                      $35,000.00 
Gas Service Vehicles                                                                              $22,000.00 
Gas Service Equipment                                                                         $149,000.00 
Police Vehicles                                                                                        $500,000.00 
Police Equipment                                                                                   $50,000.00 
Road Improvements                                                                              $1,728,600.00 
Road Department Vehicles                                                                  $60,000.00 
Road Department Equipment                                                             $430,000.00 
City Shop Equipment                                                                            $10,000.00 
Building and Grounds Lawnmower                                                    $6,000.00 
Building and Grounds Vehicles                                                           $22,000.00 
Public Buildings                                                                                     $600,000.00 
Blight Remediation                                                                               $215,000.00 
Broadband Feasibility Study                                                               $50,000.00 
City Hall Improvements                                                                       $20,000.00 
 
Ballot Question: 
1% SPECIAL SALES TAX 
“(  ) Yes   (  )  No 
Shall a special one percent sales and use tax be imposed in the special district of Putnam County upon the termination of 
the special one percent sales and use tax presently in effect, for a period of time not to exceed three years and for the 
raising of an estimated amount of $16,560,000.00 for the purpose of completion of capital outlay projects as follows (1) 
(i) sheriff’s office vehicles and building improvements, (ii) EMS ambulances and equipment, (iii) fire department trucks 
and equipment, (iv) public works heavy duty trucks and equipment, (v) Putnam General Hospital, (vi) recreation 
department field lighting and building improvements, (vii) community event equipment, (viii) golf course building and 
equipment, (ix) public building improvements, (x) Oconee Springs Park improvements, (xi) roads for Putnam County; (2) 
(i) fire vehicles, (ii) fire fighting equipment, (iii) gas line expansion, (iv) gas service computer equipment, (v) gas 
department vehicle, (vi) gas service equipment, (vii) police vehicles, (viii) police equipment, (ix) road improvements, (x) 
road department vehicles, (xi) road department equipment, (xii) city shop equipment, (xiii) building and grounds 
equipment, (xiv) buildings and grounds vehicle, (xv) public buildings, (xvi) blight remediation, (xvii) broadband feasibility 
study and (xix) improvements to City Hall for the City of Eatonton? 
            If re‐imposition of the tax is approved by the voters, such vote shall also constitute approval of the issuance of 
general obligation debt of Putnam County, Georgia in the principal amount of $5,000,000.00 for the purpose set forth in 
clause (1) above.” 

84



 

The Putnam Development Authority reserves the right to continue the meeting to another time and place in the event the number of people in 

attendance at the meeting, including the PDA members, staff, and members of the public exceeds the legal limits.  The meeting cannot be closed to 

the public except by a majority vote of a quorum present for the meeting.  The authority can vote to go into an executive session on a legally exempt 
matter during a public meeting even if not advertised or listed on the agenda.  Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in 

order to allow them to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are 

required to contact the ADA Compliance Officer, at least three business days in advance of the meeting at 706-485-2776 to allow the County to make 

reasonable accommodations for those persons. 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 
9. Interfor Announcement 

  

85



Interfor Corporation 

Peachtree City, Ga   August 2, 2018 

Interfor Invests in Eatonton Sawmill to  
Grow Southern Yellow Pine Lumber Business 

Investment to provide increased security for rural jobs in the Southeast 

INTERFOR CORPORATION (“Interfor” or the “Company”), one of North America’s largest 

lumber manufacturers, announced its Eatonton mill will be part of Phase II of the 

Southern Investment Strategy approved by its Board today.  

This announcement builds on Phase I of the Southern Investment Strategy, two strategic 

capital projects, announced in November 2017, at the Meldrim (Georgia) and Monticello 

(Arkansas) sawmills. 

Combining Phases I & II, Interfor is undertaking major modernizations and rebuilds at five 

sawmills in its US South platform to modernize technology, increase efficiency and boost 

production. The total combined cost of Phases I & II is expected to be $US305 million and the 

projects are designed to increase production capacity by approximately 425 million board feet 

per year and enhance product mix and grade outturns. 

“Forestry has always been a key economic driver in Georgia, and Interfor’s commitment to our 

state is significant,” said Georgia Governor Nathan Deal. “Projects like this open the door for more 

opportunities for our workforce. The impact that Interfor will have in Georgia goes far beyond jobs 

and investment, and I look forward to their continued growth.” 

“We are capitalizing on embedded opportunities in the South,” said Duncan Davies, President & 

Chief Executive Officer at Interfor. “That includes an attractive fiber basket, proximity to major end 

use markets, a supportive business environment, and sawmills with untapped potential.”  

This capital investment will also protect and improve jobs in Eatonton and the surrounding area. 

“Well capitalized and efficient mills are better able to weather changing markets. This capital 

investment means we’re also investing in our people through internal training programs to build 

the skilled workforce we need to run these modern and efficient sawmills,” said Davies.  

“Interfor’s decision to invest in Eatonton and protect nearly 125 jobs here is one that will have a 

long-lasting impact,” Terry Schwindler, Economic Development Director of the Putnam 

86



Page 2 of 2 

Development Authority, said. “We are pleased to know Interfor will continue to be an important 
partner in ushering economic growth and prosperity in our community.” 

“As a company, Interfor is committed to building value every day—by hiring, partnering and 

investing in local communities to grow our global business. This investment means the Eatonton 

sawmill will consume more timber which is good news for local loggers and timberland owners,” 

said Bruce Luxmoore, Vice President, Southern Operations at Interfor. “We are excited to be 

investing in Eatonton and look forward to a long and strong partnership with the state and the local 

community.”      

“Having a global name like Interfor invest in our community is huge, and it is a testament to 

our ability to partner with world-class companies to get things done. We pledge to do whatever 

we can to make the Interfor-Eatonton lumber operation a tremendous success,” added 

Schwindler.  

 

The two other sawmills affected by the announcement are Thomaston (Georgia) and 

Georgetown (South Carolina) which will also see significant investment. The three projects 

combined will increase production capacity by approximately 275 million board feet per year, 

and enhance product mix and grade outturns. This is in addition to the two projects announced 

last fall at Meldrim (Georgia) and Monticello (Arkansas) sawmills. All capital investment projects 

are expected to be completed in various phases during 2019-2021. 

 

-30- 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This release contains information and statements that are forward-looking in nature, including, 

but not limited to, statements containing the words “designed”, “will”, “look forward”, 

“capacity”, “expected” and similar expressions.  Such statements involve known and unknown 

risks and uncertainties that may cause Interfor’s actual results to be materially different from 

those expressed or implied by those forward-looking statements. Such risks and uncertainties 

include, among other things:  price volatility, availability of equipment and materials, 

competition, availability and cost of log supply, natural or man-made disasters, currency 

exchange sensitivity, regulatory changes, environmental impact and performance, labour 

disruptions, cyber-security measures, and other factors referenced in Interfor’s Annual Report 

available on www.sedar.com and www.interfor.com. The forward-looking information and 

statements contained in this release are based on Interfor’s current expectations and beliefs. 

Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking information or 

statements. Interfor undertakes no obligation to update such forward-looking information or 

statements, except where required by law. 

 

ABOUT INTERFOR 

Interfor is a growth-oriented lumber company with operations in Canada and the United States. 

The Company has annual production capacity of approximately 3.1 billion board feet and offers 

one of the most diverse lines of lumber products to customers around the world. For more 

information about Interfor, visit our website at www.interfor.com. 

 

For further information: 

 

Tim Lowrimore 

Public Affairs Manager 

Interfor 

(478) 988-3817 

87


	Top
	1. 20180813 PDA Call to Order
	2. 20180813 PDA Minutes
	DRAFT 07-09-18 PDA Minutes.pdf
	Executive Session minutes review 070918.pdf

	3. 20180813 PDA Financials
	Income Statement - Jul 2018.pdf
	Balance Sheet July 2018.pdf
	Bank Rec July 2018.pdf
	Deposit Detail July 2018.pdf
	YTD P&amp;amp;L July 2018.pdf
	One GA July Rec 2018.pdf

	4. 20180813 PDA EDD Report
	Economic Development Director Report 8-13-18.pdf

	5. 20180813 PDA OneGA Grant
	DCA OneGeorgia Equity Award package 080818.pdf

	6. 20180813 PDA Bank Signors
	Bank accounts update 8-13-18.pdf

	7. 20180813 PDA Budget
	2019-75201 PDA Budget Package 7-31-18.pdf

	8. 20180813 PDA SPLOST #9
	Approved SPLOST #9 list.pdf

	9. 20180813 PDA Interfor
	NewsRelease_InterforInvestsInEatonton_Aug2018_FNL (003).pdf

	10. 20180813 PDA Other
	11. 20180813 PDA Adjourn
	Bottom

